

Pepperdine University
Pepperdine Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

2012

# Facebook usage and academic achievement of high school students: a quantitative analysis

Celeste Marie Alexander

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.pepperdine.edu/etd

#### **Recommended Citation**

Alexander, Celeste Marie, "Facebook usage and academic achievement of high school students: a quantitative analysis" (2012). *Theses and Dissertations*. 294. https://digitalcommons.pepperdine.edu/etd/294

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Pepperdine Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Pepperdine Digital Commons. For more information, please contact bailey.berry@pepperdine.edu.

Pepperdine University

Graduate School of Education and Psychology

# FACEBOOK USAGE AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT OF HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS: A QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Educational Technology

by

Celeste Marie Alexander

August, 2012

Eric Hamilton, Ph.D. – Dissertation Chairperson

This dissertation, written by

Celeste Marie Alexander

under the guidance of a Faculty Committee and approved by its members, has been submitted to and accepted by the Graduate Faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

# DOCTOR OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

Doctoral Committee:

Eric Hamilton, Ph.D., Chairperson

Monica Goodale, Ed.D.

Charles Colen, Ph.D

© Copyright by Celeste Marie Alexander (2012)

All Rights Reserved

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
DEDICATION	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	viii
VITA	ix
ABSTRACT	x
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Purpose of This Study	4
Research Questions	
Significance of Study	5
Limitations	7
Assumptions	
Theoretical Perspective	
Overview of Methodology	9
Definition of Terms	
Organization of the Study	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Social Capital Defined	
Positive Social Capital	
Negative Social Capital	
Family Social Capital and Academic Achievement	
School Social Capital and Academic Achievement	
Community Social Capital and Academic Achievement	
Decline of Social Capital	
Social Capital and the Internet	
Definition and History of Social Network Sites	
Facebook Defined	
Facebook and Social Capital	
Facebook and Teens	
Facebook and Academic Achievement	
Psychosocial Factors and Academic Achievement	
Psychosocial Factors and Social Capital	

# Page

Chapter 3: Methodology	
Research Design	
Population	
Sample and Sampling Procedures	
Instrumentation	
Data Collection Procedures	
Data Analysis	
Limitations	
Summary of Methodology	55
Chapter 4: Results	
Characteristics of the Sample	
Research Questions	57
Chapter 5: Discussion	61
Key Findings	
Limitations of the Study	
Implications for the Field	
Suggestions for Future Research	66
REFERENCES	68
APPENDIX A. Facebook Intensity Scale	
APPENDIX B. Pepperdine University Institutional Review Board Approval.	
APPENDIX C. Student Assent Form	
APPENDIX D. Parental Consent Form	833

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Dollarway High School Student Characteristics	48
Table 2. Facebook Intensity Scale	50
Table 3. Sample Characteristics	57
Table 4. Correlation of Facebook Intensity with GPA and ENGAGE scales	58
Table 5. Strength of Statistically Significant Correlations	59

# DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my wonderful friends and family who continuously support my goals and encourage me to reach for the stars.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Trust in the Lord with all your heart, and lean not on your own understanding; In all your ways acknowledge Him, and he shall direct your paths.

Proverbs 3:5,6

#### VITA

## Celeste Marie Alexander

## Education

University of Arkansas at Monticello (6/03-5/04), Masters of Arts in Teaching

University of Arkansas at Little Rock (8/98-5/03), Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics

University of Arkansas at Little Rock (8/98-5/03), Bachelor of Arts in Radio/TV/Film

# Employment

University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff, Mathematics Instructor (8/08-present) Pine Bluff School District, Secondary Mathematics Teacher (8/03-7/08)

#### ABSTRACT

Online social networking has become an integral part of the lives of America's teenagers with 73% of teens reporting that they use as social networking site such as Facebook daily (Lenhart, Purcell, Smith, & Zickuhr, 2010). Some recent studies have shown a negative relationship between Facebook use and academic achievement (Karpinski & Duberstein, 2009), while other studies have shown no relationship between Facebook use and academic achievement (Pasek, More, & Hargittaai, 2009). Thus, parents, teachers, and administrators remain uncertain of the effects, if any, of students using Facebook.

This study examined Facebook usage and academic achievement of high school students at Dollarway High School. 72 students completed two surveys–the Facebook Intensity Scale (FBI) and ENGAGE for grades 10 to 12. The FBI measures the amount of time spent a student spends on Facebook, the extent of a student's participation on Facebook, a student's emotional connection to Facebook, and a student's integration of Facebook into his/her daily life. ENGAGE measures 10 psychosocial behaviors that affect academic achievement of students including academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills. Students' GPA information was also collected.

Results of the study showed a negative relationship between intensity of Facebook use and GPA, a negative relationship between intensity of Facebook use and goal striving, and a negative relationship between intensity of Facebook use and steadiness. These findings indicate that a negative relationship does exist among

Х

Facebook use and academic achievement for some populations. More research is needed to determine why these negative relationships exist in some populations and not in others.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Online social networking, the use of the Internet to connect with people, has increased dramatically since 2008. According to the September 2009 Nielsen Company Report, Internet users spent 17 percent of their time online visiting social networking websites (Nielsen Company, 2009). This is three times the amount of time spent visiting social networking websites in 2008. Jon Gibs, Vice President of Nielsen's Online Division, suggested that this increase indicated a dramatic change in the way people view the purpose of the Internet. Gibs stated that "while video and text content remain central to the Web experience–the desire of online consumers to connect, communicate and share is increasingly driving the medium's growth" (Nielsen Company, 2009, p. 1).

People use online social networking websites for a variety of reasons, including searching for friends, jobs, and relationships. One of the most popular websites for online social networking is called Facebook. Launched in 2004 at Harvard University, Facebook is the fastest growing online social utility with more than 800 million users worldwide ("Facebook IPO," 2012, para. 4). The initial purpose of the website was to connect students at Harvard University, but this purpose was soon expanded to connect high school students, college students, and adults worldwide.

With its expanded purposes, it is no surprise that Facebook has become a popular website among American teenagers. A 2009 survey conducted by the Pew Internet & American Life Project showed that 73% of all online American young people between the ages of 12 and 17 used social networking websites for communication (Lenhart, Madden, Smith, & Macgill, 2010). For many of these teens, logging onto Facebook is their first activity when they wake up and their last activity before they go to sleep.

Researcher Dana Boyd described Facebook as an extension of a modern teenager's daily socialization routine:

For American teenagers, social network sites became a social hangout space, not unlike the malls in which I grew up or the dance halls of yesteryears. This was a place to gather with friends from school and church when in-person encounters were not viable. . . . Social network sites became critically important to them because this was where they sat and gossiped, jockeyed for status, and functioned as digital flaneurs. They used these tools to see and be seen. (Boyd, 2009, para. 29-30)

For American teenagers, Facebook is now simply another place to commune with friends, gain popularity, and catch up on the latest news.

As teenagers socialize, connect, and express themselves through Facebook, many parents question the effects of their children spending so much time online. Responsible parents encourage their children to participate in activities that they deem safe and productive. These same parents seek to discourage their children from pursuing activities that they view as harmful. Yet, it can be difficult for a parent to truly understand the effects of online social networking. Examine the hypothetical plight of Mr. and Mrs. Davidson.

Mr. and Mrs. Davidson have two teenage children–Jack, aged 16 years, and Maria, aged 15 years. Each child has his/her own personal laptop computer and spends most of his or her time online visiting Facebook. Jack is a popular football player who enjoys uploading game photos, taking personality quizzes, and engaging in friendly banter with rival football players on his Facebook page. Maria is a popular cheerleader who enjoys uploading photos of the latest makeup trends, posting updates of her current mood, and professing love for her boyfriend on her Facebook page. Both siblings have busy schedules and active social lives both online and offline. Both siblings are enrolled in advanced placement courses and have earned the distinction of Honor Roll Recipient throughout their educational careers. Yet, as a new school year begins, Jack's grades begin to fall while Maria continues to earn straight As.

Mr. and Mrs. Davidson are deeply concerned about their son's progress in school. They schedule appointments with his teachers, examine his study habits, and talk to Jack in hopes of discovering a solution to his academic decline. While brainstorming for a solution, Mr. Davidson recalls a recent magazine article describing the negative effects of online social networking (Hamilton, 2009). According to the article, researchers discovered that college students at Ohio State University who used Facebook had significantly lower grade point averages than their counterparts who did not use Facebook (Karpinski & Duberstein, 2009). Mr. Davidson concludes that his son's use of Facebook is contributing to the decline of his grades. Mrs. Davidson strongly disagrees with her husband, citing a different article that criticizes and contradicts the negative results of the Ohio State University study. According to this article, researchers at Northwestern University found no correlation between bad grades and the use of Facebook. On the contrary, the researchers discovered that Facebook usage is more common among students with higher grades (Pasek, More, & Hargittai, 2009). Mrs. Davidson states that while their son may now serve as an example of Facebook users who earn bad grades, their daughter, Maria, is the perfect counterexample for the claim that students who use Facebook earn better grades than students who do not use Facebook as much. The couple wants to do what is best for both of their children, but they do not truly understand the effects of online social networking.

The plight of Mr. and Mrs. Davidson is common in many American households today as more and more teens delve into the world of online social networking. Parents, administrators, and teachers alike ponder the effects of online social networking, if any, on the academic achievement of today's teens.

#### **Purpose of This Study**

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between Facebook usage and the academic achievement of high school students. It also attempted to determine whether a relationship exists between Facebook usage and psychosocial behaviors of academic success, including academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills.

#### **Research Questions**

With the rise in popularity of Facebook among online teenagers and the growing concern for increased student achievement in American schools, this study sought to answer the following research questions:

1. Is Facebook usage related to grade point average (GPA) for high school students?

2. Is Facebook usage related to academic discipline for high school students?

3. Is Facebook usage related to academic self-confidence for high school students?

4. Is Facebook usage related to commitment to college for high school students?

5. Is Facebook usage related to communication skills for high school students?

6. Is Facebook usage related to general determination for high school students?

7. Is Facebook usage related to goal striving for high school students?

8. Is Facebook usage related to social activity for high school students?

9. Is Facebook usage related to social connection for high school students?

10. Is Facebook usage related to steadiness for high school students?

11. Is Facebook usage related to study skills for high school students?

#### Significance of Study

The significance of this study is that it continued research of a new phenomenonthe rise of online social networking among American students. On May 7, 2009, researchers Aryn C. Karpinski and Adam Duberstein (2009) released a study of 219 undergraduate and graduate students at Ohio State University. According to the study, students who used Facebook earned lower grades than their counterparts who did not use the social networking website. Facebook users reported GPAs ranging from 3.0-3.5, while non-users reported GPAs ranging from 3.5-4.0. Additionally, students who did not use Facebook spent more time studying than those who did use the social networking site (Karpinski, 2009). When the Karpinski and Duberstein study was released, media outlets sensationalized the study, alerting the public to the negative effects of using Facebook. Television, radio, newspapers, magazines, and the Internet featured stories warning parents to limit their children's use of Facebook.

The wide media coverage of the Ohio State University study sparked controversy as many people questioned Karpinski and Duberstein's research methods and results. The controversy motivated researchers Josh Pasek, Eian More, and Eszter Hargittai (2009) to conduct their own study of the relationship between Facebook and academic performance. These researchers attempted to replicate Karpinski and Duberstein's study by comparing a large sample of 1,000 undergraduate students from the University of Illinois at Chicago, a national sample of 14 to 22 year olds, and a panel of American youth aged 14 to 23. The results of this study greatly differed from the results of Karpinski and Duberstein's study. According to Pasek et al. (2009), there was no "robust negative relationship between Facebook use and grades. Indeed, if anything, Facebook use is more common among individuals with higher grades" (para. 1). The results of the University of Illinois study are a clear contradiction of the results of the Ohio University study.

These two contradictory studies of the relationship between Facebook usage and GPA signal a need for more research. Karpinski acknowledged that her research had limitations and was exploratory in nature. "Once people start doing more and more research in this area, we'll see a pattern develop" (cited in Young, 2009, para. 5). Hargittai agreed, stating, "We need more research with more nuanced data to better understand how social networking usage may relate to academic performance" (cited in Carter, 2009, para. 19). Although these two researchers found different results, they agreed that more research is needed to fully understand what type of relationship, if any, exists between Facebook usage and academic achievement.

This study was the next logical step of inquiry into the relationship between student use of Facebook and academic achievement. This study sought to form a better understanding of the relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement by focusing on high school students instead of university students. This study also sought to form a better understanding of the relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement by also focusing on psychosocial behaviors that affect the academic success

of high school students. Lastly, this study sought to form a better understanding of the relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement by seeking information beyond time spent on Facebook, including students' integration of Facebook in their daily lives and students' emotional connection to Facebook.

#### Limitations

This study had the following limitations:

1. The researcher decided to use a convenience sample of high school students in an urban city in Arkansas. Thus, the findings of the study cannot be generalized to areas outside of this city and state.

2. The high school students in the study were enrolled in a public institution. Students enrolled in a private institution may possess different characteristics than students enrolled in a public institution. Thus, high school students attending private institutions are not represented by the sample population.

3. The sample population was selected from a school with a 93% African American population. Students enrolled in educational settings with a different racial makeup may possess different characteristics than those of the sample population and therefore will not be represented by the sample population.

4. The sample population was selected from a city with a 25.5% poverty rate. Students living in cities with less or greater poverty may possess different characteristics than those of the sample population and therefore will not be represented by the sample population.

#### Assumptions

This study includes the following assumptions:

1. The selected high school students responded to the Facebook Intensity Survey (Appendix A) and ENGAGE<sup>TM</sup> survey accurately and honestly.

2. The data collected measured intensity of Facebook usage, academic achievement, and the psychosocial behaviors of academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills.

3. The interpretation of the data accurately describes the characteristics of the high school students.

#### **Theoretical Perspective**

Social capital theory was used to form a theoretical perspective for studying the relationship between Facebook usage and the academic achievement of high school students. The term *social capital* was introduced as a component of sociological theory in education by James S. Coleman in 1988. According to Coleman (1988), social capital is a productive resource for individuals created through their interactions and relationships with others. Coleman used the concept of social capital to describe the impact of parent-child relationships and community-child relationships on the academic achievement of children in public and private schools. In his study of 4,000 teenagers, Coleman found that students who maintained strong, supportive, and active relationships with their parents and/or community were less likely to drop out of high school than students without these relationships. These results demonstrated the profound effect that social capital (relationships) has on human capital (education).

Social capital theory suggests that "just as physical capital and human capital facilitate productive activity, social capital does as well" (Coleman, 1988, p. 101). As applied to this study, social capital theory holds that Facebook usage may influence the academic achievement of high school students because online social networking builds social capital, thus providing students with the strong, supportive, and active relationships they require to achieve academic success.

#### **Overview of Methodology**

This study addressed the relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement among high school students and the relationship between Facebook usage and the psychosocial behaviors that affect the academic success of high school students. A quantitative survey design was used. In order to test social capital theory, survey data was collected from 72 students at Dollarway High School. This data was used to explain how the intensity of Facebook usage relates to GPA.

The survey data was also used to explain how the intensity of Facebook usage relates to the psychosocial behaviors of academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills. By collecting this quantitative data, the researcher gained a better understanding of the relationship between intensity of Facebook usage and academic achievement and the relationship between intensity of Facebook usage and psychosocial behaviors that affect the academic success of high school students.

## **Definition of Terms**

Existing research about social capital and academic achievement provided the foundation for this study. In addition, literature about the use of technology to enhance social capital provided further support. Below is a list of terms central to the areas of focus in this study. They are grouped into the main categories of this research: social capital, academic achievement, and technology.

Social Capital. Social capital terms that appear in this study include:

- *Social capital* refers to resources that are obtained through relationships with others (Coleman, 1988).
- *Bonding social capital*, also known as *strong ties*, refers to beneficial relationships among family and friends that produce a strong emotional connection and result in emotional support (Granovetter, 1982).
- *Bridging social capital*, also known as *weak ties*, refers to beneficial relationships that are not based upon strong emotional ties. However, these relationships provide individuals with access to new information otherwise unknown by their close family and friends (Granovetter, 1982).
- *Flow* is defined as "a state in which people are so involved in an activity that nothing else seems to matter; the experience itself is so enjoyable that people will do it even at great cost, for the sheer sake of doing it" (Csikszentmihalyi, 2009, p. 4)
- *Network capital* refers to "relations with friends, neighbors, relatives, and workmates that significantly provide companionship, emotional aid, goods

and services, information, and a sense of belonging" (as quoted in Wellman, Haase, Witte, & Hampton, 2001, p. 437).

- *Participatory capital* refers to "involvement in politics and voluntary organizations that affords opportunities for people to bond, create joint accomplishments, and aggregate and articulate their demands and desires a concept enshrined in the American heritage by do Tocqueville" (as quoted in Wellman et al., 2001, p. 437).
- *Community commitment* refers to "social capital that consists of more than going through the motions of interpersonal interaction and organizational involvement. When people have a strong attitude toward community–have motivated, responsible sense of belonging–they will mobilize their social capital more willingly and effectively" (as quoted in Wellman et al., 2001, p. 437).

Academic Achievement. Academic achievement terms that appear in this study include:

- *Grade point average*, also known as *GPA*, is a "measure of scholastic attainment computed by dividing the total number of grade points received by the total number of credits or hours of course work taken" ("Grade point average," 2011).
- *ENGAGE*<sup>TM</sup>, formerly known as *Student Readiness Inventory* or *SRI*, refers to a test that measures academic and psychosocial behaviors of students including motivation, social engagement, and self-regulation (American

College Testing (ACT), 2007, 2008; Allen, Robbins, & Sawyer, 2010; Kappler, 2010).

- *Motivation* refers to "personal characteristics that help students succeed academically by focusing and maintaining energies on goal-directed activities" (ACT, 2011b, p. 1).
- *Social engagement* refers to "interpersonal factors that influence students" successful integration into their environment" (ACT, 2011a, p. 1).
- *Self-regulation* refers to "the thinking process and emotional responses of students that govern how well they monitor, regulate, and control their behavior related to school and learning" (ACT, 2011b, p. 1).
- *Psychosocial factors*, also known as *PSFs*, refer to psychological and social behaviors that are predictive of academic achievement (Robbins et al., 2004).
   **Technology.** Technology terms that appear in this study include:
- Internet refers to "a vast computer network linking smaller computer networks worldwide (usually preceded by "the"). The Internet includes commercial, educational, governmental, and other networks, all of which use the same set of communications protocols" ("Internet," 2011).
- *Social networking* refers to communication activities that enable a person to increase their social contacts by forming personal and professional relationships with others (Carter, 2005).
- *Social networking sites*, also known as *SNSs*, refers to web based services that allow users to create profiles, communicate with others, list their connections

to others, and share this information in a public or semi-public format (Boyd & Ellison, 2007).

• *Facebook* refers to a popular online tool used for social networking that was launched in 2004 (Facebook, 2011a).

#### **Organization of the Study**

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 discussed the background, purpose, significance, methodology, limitations, and assumptions of the study. It also featured research questions and definitions of the key terms in the study.

Chapter 2 reviews the literature of topics relative to the study including online social networking, social capital, and student achievement. The methodology of the study is presented in Chapter 3 and includes information about research design, sample selection, collection of data, and analysis of data. Chapter 4 presents the results of the study. The dissertation concludes with Chapter 5, a discussion of the study and recommendations for future research.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

This chapter contains a review of the pertinent literature on social capital, academic achievement, online social networking, and the psychosocial factors that predict academic achievement. The main goals of this chapter are to define social capital and demonstrate how it relates to academic achievement of adolescents, to explore the current state of research of online social networking and demonstrate how it relates to academic achievement, and to describe the current state of research of psychosocial factors that predict academic achievement and demonstrate how these factors relate to social capital. After reviewing the pertinent literature, I will demonstrate how the research involving the effects of online social networking on social capital is closely related to the effects of social capital on academic achievement and psychosocial behaviors and thus provide the motivation for the current study.

#### **Social Capital Defined**

Social capital is defined as "social relationships from which an individual is potentially able to derive institutional support, particularly support that includes the delivery of knowledge based resources" (Stanton-Salazar & Dornbusch, 1995, p. 119). Social capital, in the abstract sense, is a neutral resource. However, it can be used to produce or reproduce inequality in a society (Bourdieu, 1986). French Sociologist Pierre Bourdieu described social capital as "the aggregate of the actual or potential resources which are linked to possession of a durable network of more or less institutionalized relationships of mutual acquaintance and recognition" (Bourdieu, 1986, p. 248). Those who belong to the durable network possess social capital that gives them an advantage over those who do not belong. Class, status, and reputation can all affect an individual's

access to a durable network. Thus, although social capital is a neutral resource, it can lead to negative results by initiating or duplicating inequality within a society (Bourdieu, 1986).

The neutrality of social capital is further described by sociologist James Coleman (1988):

[Social Capital] is not a single entity but a variety of different entities, with two elements in common: they all consist of some aspect of social structures, and they facilitate certain actions of actors-whether persons or corporate actors-within the structure. Like other forms of capital, social capital is productive, making possible the achievement of certain ends that in its absence would not be possible. Like physical capital and human capital, social capital is not completely fungible but may be specific to certain activities. A given form of social capital that is valuable in facilitating certain actions may be useless or even harmful for others. (p. S98)

Coleman identified three forms of social capital as obligations and expectations,

information flow capability, and norms accompanied by sanctions (1988). The first form, obligations and expectations, is dependent upon the level of trust within the social group. Individuals within the social environment must trust that obligations will be upheld and repaid. For example, if individual A does something for individual B, then A expects B to return the favor in the future. Meanwhile, individual B feels an obligation to return this favor. There must be mutual trust within the social environment for this form of social capital to exist. The second form, information flow capability, is dependent upon the sharing of information between individuals within a social environment. Shared information often comes from a social relationship that is maintained for a different purpose. For example, an individual who does not watch the news or read the newspaper can remain informed about current events by maintaining a relationship with friends, family members, or a spouse who closely follow the news. The third form of social

capital, norms accompanied by sanctions, depends on a standard or model of behavior that is enforced through reward and punishment. For example, an individual can walk outside at night without fear of his/her safety in a social environment that prevents crime through norms and sanctions (Coleman, 1988).

Since Coleman's introduction of the three forms of social capital into educational literature, many researchers have analyzed the concept of social capital and published their results. W. E. Baker defined social capital as "a resource that actors derive from specific social structures and then use to pursue their interests; it is created by changes in the relationship among actors" (Baker, 1990, p. 619). M. Schiff provided a more extensive definition, describing the concept as "the set of elements of the social structure that affects relations among people and are inputs or arguments of the production and/or utility function" (Schiff, 1992, p. 161). R. S. Burt provided a simpler definition of social capital as "friends, colleagues, and more general contacts through whom you receive opportunities to use your financial and human capital" (Burt, 1992, p. 9). Alejandro Portes combined all of these definitions to form a consensus of the definition of social capital as "the ability of actors to secure benefits by virtue of membership in social networks or other social structures" (Portes, 1998, p. 6). Portes also defined the three basic functions of social capital as "(a) a source of social control; (b) a source of family support; (c) a source of benefits through extrafamilial networks" (Portes, 1998, p. 9).

#### **Positive Social Capital**

The term social capital has gained popularity over the past 30 years, but the concept is not new. The idea "that involvement and participation in groups can have

positive consequences for the individual and the community is a staple notion" in the field of sociology (Portes, 1998, p. 2). The positive consequences of social capital include communities where citizens repay their debts on time, give alms to the poor, donate to charities, and obey traffic laws. These communities exist because people feel obligated to behave in this manner (Portes, 1998, p. 7). Other positive consequences of social capital include communities where wealthy citizens make anonymous endowments to churches, schools, and hospitals, and courageous citizens voluntarily join the military. These consequences exist because citizens feel a strong connection to their community, which is defined as bounded solidarity. These individuals identify with their community and thus support initiatives to improve their community. "Identification with one's own group, sect, or community can be a powerful motivational force" (Portes, 1998, p. 8).

The presence of social capital can be a less costly, non-economic solution to social problems such as teenage pregnancy, low labor force participation, low levels of educational achievement, poverty, and violence (Portes, 1998; Putnam, 1993). Solving social problems requires the cooperation of a community. "Working together is easier in a community blessed with a substantial stock of social capital" (Putnam, 1993, pp. 35-36). Research has shown a correlation between social capital and health (Putnam, 2000, p. 328). In his book, *Bowling Alone*, Robert Putnam stated, "if one wanted to improve one's health, moving to a high-social capital state would do almost as much good as quitting smoking" (Putnam, 2000, p. 328). The book's website, www.bowlingalone.com, stated that "joining one group cuts in half your odds of dying next year."

#### **Negative Social Capital**

The term capital implies value. While social capital has the ability to increase the value of a society, it also has the ability to devalue a society.

Sociability cuts both ways. While it can be the source of public goods, such as those celebrated by Coleman, Loury, and others, it can also lead to public "bads." Mafia families, prostitution and gambling rings and youth gangs offer so many examples of how embeddedness in social structures can be turned to less than socially desirable ends. (Portes, 1998, p. 18)

One negative aspect of social capital is the exclusion of outsiders. Waldinger (1995) described how bounded solidarity can produce social capital that leads to economic advances for a particular group while blocking economic advances of other groups. This is true of the White ethnics, i.e., descendants of Italian, Irish, and Polish immigrants in New York, who have gained control over fire and police unions as well as construction trades. This is also true of Korean immigrants who control businesses in several East Coast cities, Cuban immigrants who monopolize businesses in Miami, and Jewish merchants who control the diamond trade in New York. The success of these businesses strongly depends on the social capital inherent in the relationships within these ethnic groups. However, "the same social relations that . . . enhance the ease and efficiency of economic exchanges among community members implicitly restrict outsiders" (Waldinger, 1995, p. 557).

Another negative aspect of social capital is also a product of the bounded solidarity among members in a community. Portes (1998) described how entrepreneurial success can be limited in these types of communities because many members refuse to contribute to the community and instead reap the benefits of others.

Thus, cozy intergroup relations of the kind found in highly solidarity communities can give rise to a gigantic free-riding problem, as less diligent members enforce on the more successful all kinds of demands backed by a shared normative structure. For claimants, their social capital consists precisely of privileged access to the resources of fellow members. (Portes, 1998, p. 16)

A third negative aspect of social capital gained through bounded solidarity is conformity. "The level of social control in such settings is so strong and also quite restrictive of personal freedoms, which is the reason why the young and the more independent-minded have always left" (Portes, 1998, p. 16). Coleman (1988) described social capital's ability to constrain activities as often preventing young people from "having a good time" or "directing their energy away from other activities" (p. S105) if they are gifted in one area such as athletics.

Portes (1998) detailed a fourth negative aspect of social capital produced by group solidarity in which a community has experienced adversity, and there exists a strong belief among the community that this adversity cannot be overcome.

In these instances, individual success stories undermine group cohesion because the latter is precisely grounded on the alleged impossibility of such occurrences. The result is downward leveling norms that operate to keep members of a downtrodden group in place and force the more ambitious to escape from it. (Portes, 1998, p. 17)

#### Family Social Capital and Academic Achievement

According to Coleman (1988), social capital within the family and within the community has a great effect upon the academic achievement of students, particularly in reducing the probability of dropping out of high school. Social capital within the family is the relationship between parents and their children. Parents must be physically present and attentive to their children's needs in order to share human capital (education) with their children. The transfer of human capital will not take place without the presence of social capital. Social capital within the community is the relationship among parents in

the community and the relationship between parents and the institutions of the community. When parents are friends with the parents of their children's friends, there exists intergenerational closure in which the community as a whole monitors and guides the behavior of the children. Communities with intergenerational closure provide children with an environment that breeds cognitive growth and stimulation and prevents students from dropping out. Intergenerational closure is especially high within the community of religious-based schools (Coleman, 1988).

Many researchers have shared Coleman's view that social capital plays a critical role in education. Putnam (2000) found that parental involvement affects the overall educational goals and achievements of children. "When parents are involved in their children's education at home, their children do better in school . . . when parents are involved at school, their children go further in school, and the schools they go to are better" (pp. 303-304). Dika and Singh (2002) described social capital as being historically linked to education with a positive correlation existing between social capital and educational achievement, social capital and educational attainment, and social capital and educational aspirations. Crosnoe (2001) examined the relationship between family and school social capital and found a difference between students with higher levels of family capital and students with lower levels of family capital. Students with higher levels of family capital were more able to benefit from school capital than students with lower levels of family capital. Rosenfeld and Richman (1999) uncovered a similar relationship when studying African American and Hispanic males. Children who experienced strong, close, supportive relationships with their parents were more likely to

seek assistance from other male friends than their counterparts who experienced less supportive relationships with their parents.

#### **School Social Capital and Academic Achievement**

Social capital garnered in the school environment plays a critical role in education. When children become of school age, their socialization shifts from the family to the school community of teachers, administrators, and peers (Coleman, 1988). Researchers have classified schools as a direct source of social capital because the school environment promotes social interaction and encourages students to participate in social activities (White & Gager, 2007). These school-sponsored activities allow students to create social capital by providing an intriguing atmosphere for social development away from academics (Feldman & Matjasko, 2005). When students participate in schoolsponsored activities, also known as extracurricular activities, they have an opportunity to develop mentoring and coaching relationships with adults from the school or community who are supportive of the students' success inside and outside of the classroom. Extracurricular activities also provide students with a means to interact with peers who share common interests and are encouraged to meet common goals (Feldman & Matjasko, 2005; Lamborn, Brown, Mounts, & Steinberg, 1992). These positive relationships with adults and peers enable students to view their relationships with school more positively (Finn, 1989; Gerber, 1996). Research has shown that students who feel a strong sense of connection to their school exhibit increased academic performance (Hendrix, Sederber, & Miller, 1990).

When students participate in school-sponsored activities, they develop social capital through a supportive network of friends and adults (Feldman & Matjasko, 2005;

McNeal, 1999). School-sponsored activities are those involving structure, adultsupervision, and skill building exercises (White & Gager, 2007). The most common activities for adolescents ages 12 to 18 are those involving sports, school organizations, and fine arts. Other common activities include after-school programs that offer academic assistance, recreation, and enriched learning (Mahoney, Larson, & Eccles, 2005). The social ties created through participation in school-sponsored activities allow adolescents to gain access to resources that may be otherwise unavailable. Students involved in these activities can exchange useful information about standards of behavior, school norms, and other educational resources that enable them to achieve their academic goals (Coleman, 1988). Participation in school-sponsored activities allows adolescents to develop discipline and time management skills. By applying these skills to their daily routines, the teens are more likely to enhance their educational success (Glanville, Sikkink, & Hernandez, 2008).

Many researchers disagree about the positive relationship between participation in school-sponsored activities and academic achievement. Marsh and Kleitman (2002) reported a negative relationship between participation in school-sponsored activities and academic achievement among adolescents. The more time students spend in organized activities, the less time they spend with their families and with their schoolwork. Thus, the school-sponsored activities may serve as a distraction and adversely affect academic performance (Marsh & Kleitman, 2002). When a student is intensely involved in an extracurricular activity, the student's commitment to the activity competes with the student's commitment to academics, sometimes leading to an adverse effect on academic

performance. Thus moderate participation in extracurricular activities is associated with better academic success than intense participation (Mahoney, Harris, & Eccles, 2006).

#### **Community Social Capital and Academic Achievement**

Research has shown that what take place outside of the classroom is just as influential as what takes place inside of the classroom when it comes to academic achievement (Fashola, 2003). Social capital obtained through community activities can lead to greater academic achievement for adolescents through supportive networks of adults and peers who encourage the skills and values that are necessary for educational success (White & Gager, 2007). Community activities that build social capital include programs that promote community service and youth organizations such as 4-H, Boys & Girls Clubs of America, and Girls Inc. (Mahoney et al., 2005). By participating in these activities, students develop positive connections with members of their community who are able to provide resources that can enhance their educational achievement (Israel, Beaulieu, & Hartless, 2001). Participating in these activities also allows students to develop skills that are essential to academic success including organization, planning, and time management (Dotterer, McHale, & Crouter, 2007). Jordan and Nettles (2000) reported that teens who were involved in positive, meaningful, and structured community organizations were more likely to be engaged in their schoolwork and more likely to invest in their education. Thus, participation in community groups positively impacts academic achievement.

Many researchers have viewed participation in community organizations as an influential factor for the academic success of students because it allows students to associate with their peers. Academic performance increases when students belong to a

group that focuses on advanced academic achievement, strong peer connections, and adult role models (Valentine, Cooper, Bettencourt, & Dubois, 2002). Strong peer connections are important because as teens grow older, they choose to spend their time with people who are like themselves. Most adolescents spend large amounts of time with their peers in self-structured leisure activities. Consequently, they develop a support system with their peers by simply *hanging out* (Larson & Verma, 1999). Crosnoe (2001) described the characteristics of a peer group as being influenced by its members. Students who are academically successful have friends who are also academically successful. Eccles and Barber (1999) discovered a difference among adolescents who participated in volunteer or church activities and their counterparts who did not. Youth who participated in community activities had more friends with plans of attending college and fewer friends who participated in risky behaviors such as underage drinking and drug use.

Some researchers have discovered that peer connections do not always benefit academic achievement. Adolescents who participate in low-structured activities are more likely to report negative behaviors from their peers such as staying out past curfew and being apprehended by the police (Mahoney & Stattin, 2000). Eccles and Barber (1999) found that students who participated in team sports had more friends who partied and drank excessively than students who did not participate in team sports. Clearly, peer connections are only beneficial to academic achievement if they also reinforce socially acceptable and legal behaviors.
# **Decline of Social Capital**

Coleman (1988) described social capital as a public good, a quality that results in social capital being used differently than other forms of capital. When a person creates social capital, he/she is often not the benefactor of that social capital. The positive effects of social capital are largely experienced by people other than the creator. In fact, social capital is often present without being recognized. Likewise, it may disappear without acknowledgement. "The result is that most forms of social capital are created or destroyed as by-products of other activities" (Coleman, 1988, p. S118). Putnam (1995, 2000) stated that social capital in American communities has been destroyed as a byproduct of the invention of the television. Since the introduction of the television in the 1950s, there has been a steady decline in civic engagement among American citizens. "In 1950 barely 10% of American homes had television sets, but by 1959, 90% did, probably the fastest diffusion of a technological innovation ever recorded" (Putnam, 1995, p. 667). As the number of television sets in homes increased, so did the number of hours spent viewing television. Robinson (1990) reported that the average American watched three hours of television per day, resulting in Americans spending 40% of their free time watching television.

Putnam (1995) reported that television viewing is associated with low social capital because a strong negative correlation exists between television viewing and social trust and television viewing and group membership. Researchers pose several possibilities as to why television viewing destroys social capital. One possibility is time displacement. There are only 24 hours in a day. When people spend the majority of their leisure time watching television, they no longer have the time to participate in social

activities outside of the home. They become *homebodies* who prefer sitting alone in front of a television set to gathering socially with family and friends (Bower 1985; Comstock, 1989; Comstock, Chaffee, Katzman, McCombs, & Robert, 1978; Robinson & Godbey, 1995). Another possibility is a pessimistic outlook on life. Heavy consumers of television often possess a skeptical view of the intentions of others resulting in a pessimistic view of human nature. This pessimistic view discourages socialization (Comstock 1989; Dobb & MacDonald, 1979; Gerbner, Gross, Morgan, & Signorelli, 1980).

Coleman (1988) viewed the decline of social capital as a troublesome occurrence that may result in the decline of human capital. This is because strong families and strong communities are necessary for the passage of human capital from adults to youth. The solution is to find a "substitution of some kind of formal organization for the voluntary and spontaneous social organization that has in the past been the major source of social capital available to the young" (Coleman, 1988, p. S118). Recent research (Resnick, 2001) has suggested that the Internet may provide this solution. "Perhaps, with the aid of technology, it is possible to go beyond bowling together to form even more productive social relations even more conveniently" (Resnick, 2001, p. 4). In fact, some research (Lin, 2001; Wellman, 1999, 2001) has suggested that Putnam may be mistaken about the decline of social capital. He was simply looking in the wrong place:

What if Putnam is only measuring old forms of community and participation while new forms of communication and organization underneath his radar are connecting people? Some evidence suggests that the observed decline has not led to social isolation but to community becoming embedded in social networks rather than groups and a movement of community relationships from easily observed spaces to less accessible private homes. (Wellman et al., 2001, p. 437)

The Internet allows users to communicate with each other in the privacy of their homes instead of in public spaces such as Elk clubs and bowling leagues. Consequently, there is a possibility that instead of conversing in public places, people are going online where they are chatting one-to-one, exchanging e-mails, learning in newsgroups, and organizing in discussion groups and forums (Kraut et al., 1998; Smith, Drucker, Wellman, & Kraut, 1999).

#### Social Capital and the Internet

Technological advances over the past decade have provided researchers with new opportunities to study the relationship between social capital and the Internet. Initial research into the effects of Internet use on society presented a positive view, predicting the Internet's ability to restore community ties through virtual spaces where people could commune without the limitations of space and time (Baym, 1997; Sproull & Kiesler, 1991; Wellman, 2001). The relationships formed in these online virtual communities often continue in physical space, thus forming a new type of community that is a mixture of online and offline social interactions (Muller, 1999; Rheingold, 2000). When there are gaps between offline face-to-face communications, online social interactions may help to fill that void (Wellman, 2001). This is especially prevalent in North America, "where people move frequently and sometimes far away; where family, friends, former neighbors, and workmates are separated by many miles; and where the many immigrants keep contact with friends and relatives in their homelands" (Wellman et al., 2001, p. 438).

The Internet has been associated with both increases and decreases in social capital among users. Nie (2001) stated that the Internet was responsible for diminishing

the social capital of individuals. Because there are a limited number of hours in each day, Internet users are replacing time previously spent on social activities with Internet use. Consequently, Internet use leads to individuals becoming more socially isolated as they spend less time engaged in face-to-face social functions with family and friends. Among those using the Internet more than 10 hours per week, 27.0% report talking to their friends less on the phone, 16.2% report spending less time with their friends, 14.3% report spending less time with their family, and 12.8% report spending less time at events outside the home (Nie & Erbring, 2000). Other research has supported this finding, with 58% of American adults reporting that computers have led people to spend less time with friends and family and 46% of American adults believing that computers have given people less free time (National Public Radio, 2000).

This computer-aided social isolation is a symptom of problematic Internet use or PIU. Beard and Wolf (2001) defined PIU as the "use of the Internet that creates psychological, social, school, and/or work difficulties in a person's life" (p. 378). PIU becomes an issue when an Internet user experiences a psychological concept called flow. When Internet users experience flow, they are transported to "a state in which people are so involved in an activity that nothing else seems to matter; the experience itself is so enjoyable that people will do it even at great cost, for the sheer sake of doing it" (Csikszentmihalyi, 2009, p. 4). There are many qualities that make Internet use susceptible to the concept of flow, including ease of use, immediate feedback, interactive concepts, and entertaining activities (Chen, 2006; Hoffman & Novak, 1996). When Internet users experience flow they lose track of time and ignore other activities in which

they regularly participate, including socializing with friends and family at face-to-face social functions (Thatcher, Wretschko, & Fridjhon, 2008).

The notion that Internet usage decreases social capital has been criticized by researchers who claim that Internet usage actually enhances social capital (Wellman, Haase, Witte, & Hampton, 2001). In 2001, Wellman et al. released a study of the association between Internet use and three distinct types of social capital:

1. *Network capital*: Relations with friends, neighbors, relatives, and workmates that significantly provide companionship, emotional aid, goods and services, information, and a sense of belonging (Wellman & Frank, 2001).

2. *Participatory capital*: Involvement in politics and voluntary organizations that affords opportunities for people to bond, create joint accomplishments, and aggregate and articulate their demands and desires a concept enshrined in the American heritage by de Tocqueville (1835).

3. *Community commitment*: Social capital consists of more than going through the motions of interpersonal interaction and organizational involvement. When people have a strong attitude toward community–have motivated, responsible sense of belonging–they will mobilize their social capital more willingly and effectively (McAdam, 1982). (As quoted in Wellman et al., 2001, p. 437)

According to this study of 39,211 North American adults (Wellman et al., 2001),

network capital was not decreased by Internet use. Individuals did not increase nor decrease other forms of communication when using the Internet. Face-to-face and telephone contact continued and was supplemented by e-mail contact, which resulted in frequent use of the Internet being associated with more frequent contact with family, friends, and relatives, regardless of the distance between loved ones.

Similarly, participatory capital was not decreased by Internet use. Individuals did not decrease their involvement in organizations and politics when using the Internet. On the contrary, "High Internet use is associated with high participatory involvement in organizations and politics. The more online participation in organizations and politics, the more offline participation in organizations and politics" (Wellman et al., 2001, p. 447). The study found no association between Internet use and the third type of capital, community commitment. Individuals experienced no increase or decrease in feelings of offline community or offline alienation in relation to their use of the Internet.

Following their study, Wellman et al. (2001) called for future analyses of the relationship between social capital and the Internet to focus on specific types of activities that Internet users perform while online and to explore how these specific types of activities mold into the everyday lives of Internet users and affect their social capital. Researchers (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007) have answered this call by examining one specific type of Internet activity performed by many individuals daily–Online Social Networking.

#### **Definition and History of Social Network Sites**

Social networking is defined as communication activities that enable a person to increase their social contacts by forming personal and professional relationships with others (Carter, 2005). With the development of the Internet, individuals are now able to complete the process of social networking online by using social network sites. Social network sites (SNS) are

web-based services that allow individuals to (1) construct a public or semi-public profile within a bounded system, (2) articulate a list of other users with whom they share a connection, and (3) view and traverse their list of connections and those made by others within the system. (Boyd & Ellison, 2007, p. 2)

SNSs differ from other traditional social websites in the way participants use them. Most members of SNSs use the service primarily to connect with people who are already a part of their extensive offline network (Ellison et al., 2007).

While there are many SNSs with a variety of technical features, there is one element that all SNSs have in common: a visible profile page that lists an individual's

*friends* who are also members of the SNS (Boyd, 2007). The profile page is unique to each individual and can be modified by each individual to display characteristics such as age, location, interests, romantic status, and a photographic likeness. The Friends list on the profile page enables users to publicly display their connections for other members of the SNS. Although this list is called a Friends list, "the term 'Friends' can be misleading, because the connection does not necessarily mean friendship in the everyday vernacular sense, and the reasons people connect are varied" (Boyd, 2007, p. 3). Because the purpose of a SNS is social networking, most SNSs also provide users with a communication tool to leave messages and comments on a Friend's profile page. This communication tool is usually accompanied by a private messaging service similar to e-mail or webmail (Boyd, 2007).

"The first recognizable social network site" was launched in 1997 under the name SixDegrees.com (Boyd, 2007, p. 4). It was the first site to combine the ability to create profiles and list Friends together all on one site. SixDegrees.com managed to gain at least a million users, yet it was forced to close in 2000 after never gaining a substantial business footing. From 1997 to 2001, other SNSs began to emerge, including AsianAvenue, BlackPlanet, MiGente, LiveJournal, Cyworld, and LunarStorm. Each of these SNSs possessed some special attribute to attract users from ties to ethnicity to the creation of virtual worlds (Boyd, 2007). The year 2001 welcomed the next era of SNSs with Ryze.com, Tribe.net, LinkedIn, and Friendster. Each of these sites was created by people who were all acquainted both personally and professionally. These acquaintances believed they could support each other's projects without bringing in the negativity of competition (Festa, 2003). However, not all of the projects achieved success. Ryze

never gained a large following while Tribe.net amassed a large group of passionate users. LinkedIn eventually became a powerful source of social networking in the business arena, while Friendster was described as "one of the biggest disappointments in Internet history" (Chafkin, 2007, p. 1)

From 2003 onward, a surge of SNSs were launched on the Internet, culminating in the development of the most popular and successful SNS to date: Facebook.com. With 845 million active users worldwide and a value of \$50 billion ("Facebook IPO," 2012), Facebook has attained status as the world's largest and most profitable social network.

#### **Facebook Defined**

Facebook was founded in 2004 by Mark Zuckerberg, a sophomore student at Harvard University. Zuckerberg Initially developed the site for socializing among Harvard students only. However, the site soon expanded to include other colleges, followed by high school students, then select businesses, and finally anyone over the age of 13. Since its inception, Facebook has rapidly evolved into one of the world's most popular online destinations, one that is used by teenagers and adults of all ages, and increasingly by businesses all around the world. In country after country, Facebook has become the undisputed leader, often displacing other social network sites ("Facebook IPO," 2012). In the U.S., Facebook is the most popular SNS among teens, college students, and adults (Lenhart, Purcell, Smith, & Zickuhr, 2010), with approximately 900 million users worldwide (Facebook 2012a, para. 4). Facebook's mission is "to give people the power to share and make the world more open and connected" (Facebook, 2012a, para. 1). The official Facebook Newsroom currently lists the following products for use by consumers of the site:

Timeline–Timeline is a new kind of profile that lets people organize and highlight the events and activities that matter most to them. People choose the information they want to share on their timeline, such as their interests, photos and work history. They also control who sees each piece of content. (Facebook, 2012b, para. 1)

Activity Log–People can go to their activity log to review all their posts and activity, from today back to when they first joined Facebook. They can see and adjust the privacy of any of their posts, decide what shows on their timelines and hide or delete any of their posts. (Facebook, 2012b, para. 2)

News Feed–News feed is a regularly updating list of stories from friends, pages, and other connections, like groups and events. People can like or comment on what they see. Each person's news feed is personalized based on their interests and the sharing activity of their friends. (Facebook, 2012b, para. 3)

Photos and Video–With more than 300 million photos uploaded each day, Facebook is the most popular photo uploading service on the web. People can upload an unlimited number of videos and high-resolution photos, create albums, and share with their friends or any audience they choose. It's easy to add details like captions, locations and tags. Tagging lets people identify a friend in a photo or video, easily sharing that content with them. (Facebook, 2012b, para. 4)

Groups–Groups are private spaces within Facebook for people to discuss common interests. People create groups to share with small sets of people, like family, teammates or best friends. People within a group can post updates, photos and chat with everyone at once. People can customize the privacy settings for each group they create.(Facebook, 2012b, para. 5)

## **Facebook and Social Capital**

Recent research has focused on the relationship between Facebook and social capital. In 2001, Resnick presented the possibility that online sites can create new forms of social capital. This is because online activities are often supported by technological tools that strengthen relationships, such as the ability to search for acquaintances, browse photo directories, and register for distribution lists (Resnick, 2001). In 2004, Donath and Boyd presented the possibility of a link between SNSs such as Facebook and bridging social capital. Members of Facebook can use the technological tools found within the site to support loose or weak social ties. This allows members to create and maintain

relationships with a larger more diverse network than they would be able to offline. Facebook members can potentially draw resources from this larger network (Donath & Boyd, 2004).

Influenced by the research of Resnick and Donath as well as that of Boyd (2006) and Ellison et al. (2007) released a study of a random sample of 286 college students in which they examined the relationship between use of Facebook and social capital. The researchers found that 94% of the students used Facebook between 10 and 30 minutes per day primarily to connect with people with whom they already shared an offline relationship instead of using the SNS to meet new people. In addition, the researchers found a positive relationship between certain types of Facebook use and the maintenance and creation of social capital. Moreover, intensive Facebook use served as a significant predictor of bonding, bridging, and high school social capital (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2006, 2007). These findings supported the idea that certain media possess the ability to activate loose or weak ties by creating "latent tie connectivity among group members" (Haythornthwaite, 2005, p. 125). When members use Facebook, they are able to activate weak ties through activities such as *friending* a friend of a friend. In addition, members can convert latent ties, ties that exist technically but not socially (Haythornthwaite, 2005), into weak ties through activities such as "looking up the profile of someone in a shared class and finding mutual areas of interest and possible discussion topics" (Ellison et al., 2006, p. 29). According to Ellison et al. (2007), most members use Facebook to maintain or solidify existing offline relationships, and thus also use the site to maintain or solidify their social capital.

## **Facebook and Teens**

Over the last decade there has been a steady increase in the number of teens who go online. Internet use among teens is "near-ubiquitous" (Lenhart et al., 2010, p. 4) as 93% of teenagers ages 12 to 17 report going online for a variety of reasons, including getting news, purchasing clothing, books, or music, and gathering information about health. Today's teenagers grew up in a world of technology that makes the Internet "a central and indispensable element" in their daily lives (Lenhart et al., 2010, p. 5). With the dramatic rise in popularity of SNSs like Facebook, it is no surprise that 73% of American teens report being users of SNSs. Although online social networking is more popular amongst older teens aged 14 to 17 (82%), more than half of younger teens ages 12 to 13 (55%) are avid users of SNSs. Gender differences do not affect the likelihood of a teen using a SNS as males and females are equally likely to visit SNSs. However, socio-economic differences do affect the likelihood of a teen using a SNS, as teens from households earning less than \$30,000 annually are less likely to use SNSs than teens from wealthier homes (Lenhart et al., 2010). Similar to adults, most teens are not using SNSs to meet new people. According to Pew Internet Research, 91% of American teens who are members of SNSs use the sites to connect and communicate with people who they already know (Lenhart, Madden, Smith, & Macgill, 2007). These teens use SNSs to send private messages to their friends daily (37%), send group messages (42%), post comments to a friend's blog (52%), and post comments to a picture, page, or wall (85%) within the SNS (Lenhart et al., 2010).

#### **Facebook and Academic Achievement**

High levels of social capital have been positively associated with academic achievement (Coleman, 1988). Meanwhile, high levels of certain types of Facebook use have been positively associated with increased levels of social capital (Ellison et al., 2006, 2007). These positive associations have led researchers to question the relationship between Facebook use and academic achievement. In 2009, Karpinski and Duberstein presented a study of 219 undergraduate and graduate students from Ohio State University (OSU) in which the researchers compared the GPAs of Facebook users and non-users. The researchers found that Facebook users had significantly lower GPAs than non-users (3.0-3.5 versus 3.5-4.0). They also found that Facebook users spent significantly less time studying weekly than non-users (1-5 hours versus 11-15 hours). However, Pasek et al. (2009) believed Karpinski and Duberstein's sample and methodology to be flawed. Consequently, they released a study of data gathered from three large scale longitudinal Internet studies: 1,060 undergraduates at the University of Illinois at Chicago (UIC), 700 youth from the 2008 National Annenberg Survey of Youth (NASY), and 320 youth from the 2007 National Annenberg Survey of Youth (NASY), all of whom had agreed to be surveyed again in 2008. Unlike Karpinski and Duberstein, Pasek et al. found no significant relationship between Facebook use and GPA.

However, Karpinski and Duberstein (2009) and Pasek et al. (2009) both compared Facebook users to non-users without taking into account the reality that all Facebook users are not the same. Facebook users vary in the amount of time that they spend on Facebook. Consequently, the results of either study could be misleading. Hargittai and Hsieh (2010) analyzed the data from the UIC study, taking into account the amount of

time Internet users spent on different social networking sites, including Facebook. Hargittai and Hsieh found no systematic relationship between social network use and GPA. However, the results of Hargittai and Hsieh's analysis could also be misleading. When asked how much time they spent on social networking sites, respondents were given the following five choices: "no, have never used it," "tried it once, but have not used it since;" "yes, have tried it in the past, but do not use it nowadays;" "yes, currently use it sometimes;" and "yes, currently use it often" (Hargittai & Hsieh, 2010, p. 521). The words "often" and "sometimes" can be interpreted differently by respondents. Other researchers have contributed to the discussion of the relationships between Facebook use and academic achievement with results that also differ from those of Karpinski and Duberstein. Ellison et al. (2007) found that Facebook use produced no noticeable effects on grades. Kolek and Saunders (2008) studied Facebook profiles of 471 undergraduates and found no significant difference in GPAs between Facebook users and non-users.

Most recent studies of the relationship between Facebook use and academic achievement have focused on users versus non-users. However, with the dramatic growth of Facebook usage, it is now increasingly difficult to find students who are not Facebook users. Thus, there is a need for future research to focus on other measures of Facebook use other than being a user or a non-user. Also, most recent studies have focused on college students. Thus, there is a need for future research to focus on other populations such as high school students. Lastly, most recent studies have focused on GPA as the only measurement of academic achievement, ignoring psychosocial and academic behaviors that predict the academic success of students. Thus, there is a need

for future research to focus on psychosocial factors that serve as predictive measures of academic achievement, such as motivation, social engagement, and self-regulation.

#### **Psychosocial Factors and Academic Achievement**

Many studies of academic achievement focus on two measures: performance (GPA) and retention (not dropping out of school). In 2004, Robbins et al. conducted a meta-analysis of 109 studies published between 1973 and 2002 with research related to academic performance and retention of college students. The primary goal of the study was to combine educational research with psychological research in order to gain a better understanding of the effect of psychosocial constructs, social skills, and study skills on the performance and retention of college students.

Robbins et al. (2004) used the college persistence theories of Tinto (1975, 1993) and Bean (1980, 1983, 1985) to organize educational research into an educational persistence model. Tinto (1975) presented a student integration theory that suggested that factors in a college student's life such as family, social economic status, and high school achievement all help to determine how a student will fit into the academic and social structures of the school. How well a student integrates into the academic and social structures of the school then determines how committed the student will be to the institution and to his or her academic goals. These factors predict the retention behavior of the student and can increase or decrease the student's persistence towards academic success in school. Bean (1980, 1983) presented a student attrition model in which student behaviors such as time spent with faculty and time spent away from campus served as predictors of a student's lack of involvement with the school. Berger and

Milem (1999) reiterated the ideas of Tinto and Bean, stating "student involvement leads to greater integration in the social and academic systems of the college and promotes institutional commitment" (p. 644).

Robbins et al. (2004) sought the motivational literature of Covington (2000), Dweck (1999), and Eccles and Wigfield (2002) to organize psychological research into a motivational theory model. Covington highlighted the importance of motivation in achieving academic success:

The quality of student learning as well as the will to continue learning depends closely on an interaction between the kinds of social and academic goals students bring to the classroom, the motivation properties of these goals, and prevailing classroom reward structures. (Covington, 2000, p. 171)

Covington (1998, 2000) also presented self-worth theory, which describes the importance of possessing high self-esteem, establishing a positive self-image, and maintaining a positive self-concept. Dweck (1986, 1999) highlighted a student's need to achieve coupled with a student's need to belong as factors that drive student motivation and in turn affect both achievement and performance goals of the student. Eccles and Wigfield (2002) discussed the importance of intrinsic motivation, goals, and interests and also highlighted the differences among these ideas as they relate to student motivation. They also presented self-efficacy and control as behaviors that related to academic achievement.

Robbins et al. (2004) combined the educational persistence models with the motivational theory models and identified

nine broad constructs of psychosocial and study skills factors (PSFs) as follows: achievement motivation, academic goals, institutional commitment, perceived social support, social involvement, academic self-efficacy, general self-concept, academic related skills, and contextual influences (including financial support, size of institutions, and institutional selectivity). (p. 264)

After controlling for the effects of traditional predictors of academic performance and retention (high school GPA, ACT, Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) scores, and socioeconomic status), Robbins et al. (2004) identified three broad, higher order psychosocial constructs as being valid predictors of academic performance and persistence. These broad psychosocial constructs were motivation, social engagement, and self-regulation:

- Motivation includes personal characteristics that help students succeed academically by focusing and maintaining energies on goal-directed activities.
- Social engagement includes interpersonal factors that influence students' successful integration into their environment.
- Self-regulation includes the thinking processes and emotional responses of students that govern how well they monitor, regulate, and control their behavior related to school and learning. (ACT, 2011a, p. 1; Robbins et al., 2004; Le, Casillas, Robbins, & Langley, 2005, p. 486)

After identifying the three broad psychosocial constructs, the researchers

conducted a study

to develop an inventory of psychosocial and skills factors that (a) captures the aforementioned higher order constructs, (b) includes other important constructs missing in Robbins et al.'s meta-analysis that may be predictive of college success criteria, and (c) establishes the foundation for the construct validation process of the resulting inventory. (Le et al., 2005, p. 483)

In order to find constructs missing from Robbins et al. (2004), the researchers analyzed

self-regulation literature and personality literature. The researchers sought the self-

regulation literature of Schunk and Zimmerman (2003), Zimmerman (1986), and

Zimmerman and Martinez-Pons (1986) in order to combine the motivational constructs of

goals, self-efficacy, and self-esteem with the cognitive skills of self regulated behavior

and metacognition with the goal of creating a self-regulated learning model. The

researchers sought the personality literature of Digman (1990), Goldberg (1993), and

John (1990) to present information on the five broad personality traits of humans, which were defined as emotional stability (neuroticism), extroversion, conscientiousness, agreeableness, and openness. Three of these personality traits, conscientiousness, emotional stability, and agreeableness, can be used to predict job performance (Barrick & Mount, 1991; Hurtz & Donovan, 2000; Saldago, 1997; Tett, Jackson, & Rothstein, 1991) and turnover (Caligiuri, 2000; Saldago, 2002). According to Le et al. (2005), the constructs of job performance and turnover in the organizational literature are analogous to the constructs of academic performance and retention in educational literature. Thus, conscientiousness, emotional stability, and agreeableness are likely predictors of academic performance and retention.

Le et al. (2005) combined motivational literature, educational literature, psychological literature, self-regulation literature, and personality literature to develop a tool for measuring psychosocial and study skills factors called the Student Readiness Inventory (SRI). The SRI consists of 10 scales:

- 1. Academic Discipline (reflects the amount of effort a student puts into schoolwork and the degree to which he or she sees himself or herself as hardworking and conscientious),
- 2. Academic Self-Confidence (reflects the extent to which a student believes he or she can perform well in school),
- 3. Commitment to College (reflects a student's commitment to staying in college and getting a degree),
- 4. Communication Skills (reflects how attentive a student is to others' feelings and how he or she manages those feelings),
- 5. Steadiness/Emotional Control (reflects how a student responds to strong feelings and how he or she manages those feelings),
- 6. General Determination (reflects the extent to which a student strives to follow through on commitments and obligations),

- 7. Goal striving (reflects the strength of a student's effort to achieve objectives and end goals),
- 8. Social Activity (reflects how comfortable a student feels meeting and interacting with other people),
- 9. Social Connection (reflects a student's feelings of connection and involvement with the college or school community), and
- 10. Study Skills (reflects the extent to which a student believes he or she knows how to assess an academic problem, organize a solution, and successfully completes academic assignments).

(Robbins, Allen, Casillas, Peterson, & Le, 2006, p. 600)

In 2006, Robbins et al. conducted a large-scale study of 14,464 students from 48 institutions to determine the predictive validity of the Student Readiness Inventory. After controlling for institutional and demographic effects, the researchers' findings suggested that "specific measures of motivational, self-management, and social engagement factors are all related to academic performance and retention, with academic-specific motivational measures (Academic Discipline and Commitment to College) the best predictors of academic performance and retention" (Robbins et al., 2006, p. 614).

#### **Psychosocial Factors and Social Capital**

Through their meta-analyses, Robbins et al. (2004, 2006) and Le et al. (2005) found 10 psychosocial behaviors of students that were predictive of academic achievement. They grouped these into the three categories of motivation, social engagement, and self-regulation. The definitions of these categories share characteristics with the definitions of the three types of social capital: network capital, participatory capital, and community commitment.

Wellman and Frank (2001) defined network capital as relationships with family, friends, co-workers, and neighbors that resulted in emotional support, companionship,

shared information, exchange of goods and services, and a general sense of belonging to the community. In a school environment, this network capital can be viewed as the relationships a student has with parents, teachers, administrators, coaches, and peers who provide emotional support, companionship, shared information, exchange of goods and services, and a general sense of belonging to the school community. The relationships described by network capital share characteristics with the PSFs defined by Robbins et al. (2004). Emotional support resembles the PSF of steadiness, which is defined as a student's responses to and management of their emotions and feelings. The exchange of goods and services resembles the PSF of study skills, which is defined as a student's knowledge of how to solve academic problems and complete academic assignments. Companionship and sense of belonging resemble the PSFs of (a) social activity, a student's level of comfort when interacting with others; and (b) social connection, a student's interaction with the school community. The concept of network capital as a form of social capital shares traits with the psychosocial factors of steadiness, study skills, social connection, and social activity.

Wellman et al. (2001) described the second type of social capital, participatory capital, as voluntary involvement in politics or other organizations that present an opportunity for individuals to bond with others, set common goals, share accomplishments, and discuss their hopes, desires, dreams, and demands with others. In a school environment, participatory capital can be viewed as a student's involvement in extracurricular activities. The opportunities described by participatory capital share characteristics with the PSFs defined by Robbins et al. (2004). Bonding with others resembles the PSFs of (a) communication skills, being aware of other's feelings and

emotions; (b) social connection, being involved in the school community; and (c) social activity, enjoying interactions with others. Setting common goals and sharing accomplishments resembles the PSFs of (a) goal striving, making a concerted effort to achieve benchmarks and goals; and (b general determination, striving to keep commitments, obligations, and promises. The concept of participatory capital as a form of social capital shares traits with the psychosocial factors of communication skills, social connection, social activity, goal striving, and general determination.

Community commitment is the third type of social capital presented by Wellman et al. (2001). It is defined as interactions between people that lead one to develop motivation and responsibility for bettering themselves and the community. Similarly, Robbins et al.'s (2004) description of motivation and skills include PSFs such as (a) communication skills, where an individual has interpersonal relationships where they are aware of others' feeling and work to resolve conflicts; (b) general determination, where an individual works to keep obligations and commitments to others within the school community; and (c) academic discipline, where an individual views him/herself as a hard worker dedicated to achieving goals. Community commitment is also defined as being involved in the community and feeling a strong sense of belonging to the community (Wellman et al., 2001). Similarly, Robbins et al. (2004) described social engagement as including PSFs such as (a) social connection, where an individual feels connected to and involved in the school community; and (b) social activity, where an individual feels comfortable meeting, speaking, and interacting with others in the school community. The concept of community commitment as a form of social capital shares traits with the

psychosocial factors of communication skills, general determination, social connection, and social activity.

The shared traits among the three types of social capital and the psychosocial factors that predict academic achievement present questions for researchers interested in the relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement. In accordance with the research of Donath and Boyd (2004) and Ellison et al. (2006, 2007), does Facebook usage increase social capital and in turn, have a positive relationship with GPA, and the psychosocial factors that are predictive of academic achievement? Or, in accordance with the research of Nie (2001), does Facebook usage decrease social capital, and in turn have a negative relationship with GPA and the psychosocial factors that are predictive of academic achievement? Finally, in accordance with the research of Pasek et al. (2009), does Facebook usage have no effect on social capital, and in turn, have no relationship with GPA and the psychosocial factors that are predictive of academic achievement? These questions influenced and informed the goals of the present study.

#### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between Facebook usage and the academic achievement of high school students. The researcher sought to answer the following research questions:

1. Is Facebook usage related to GPA for high school students?

2. Is Facebook usage related to academic discipline for high school students?

3. Is Facebook usage related to academic self-confidence for high school students?

4. Is Facebook usage related to commitment to college for high school students?

5. Is Facebook usage related to communication skills for high school students?

6. Is Facebook usage related to general determination for high school students?

7. Is Facebook usage related to goal striving for high school students?

8. Is Facebook usage related to social activity for high school students?

9. Is Facebook usage related to social connection for high school students?

10. Is Facebook usage related to steadiness for high school students?

11. Is Facebook usage related to study skills for high school students?

The methodology used to explore these research objectives is presented in this chapter. It consists of the following sections: research design, population and sample, sampling procedures, instrumentation, data collection procedures, data analysis, limitations, and summary of methodology.

#### **Research Design**

A quantitative explanatory research methodology was used in this study. Explanatory research design is "a correlational design in which the researcher is

interested in the extent to which two variables (or more) co-vary, that is, where changes in one variable are reflected in changes in the other" (Creswell, 2008, p. 358). The researcher employed explanatory design to determine the relationship between the variables of Facebook usage and GPA among high school students. The researcher also determined the relationship between the variable of Facebook usage and each of the ten variables of academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills. The researcher did not wish to infer causation between these variables. Instead, the researcher wanted to discover if any relationships existed and to what extent those relationships existed. Thus, explanatory research was most suited for this study because "the goal of correlational studies is to understand the patterns of relationships among variables" (Smith & Glass, 1987, p. 198)

## Population

The population for this study consisted of 508 students enrolled in 9th, 10th, 11th, and 12th grades at Dollarway High School, located in Pine Bluff, Arkansas (see Table 1). The student body consisted of 93% African American students, 0.6% Asian students, 1.2% Hispanic students, 0% Native American students, and 5% Caucasian students. Male students comprised 52% of the student body and female students comprised 48% of the student body. Enrollment data reported that 90% of the student body was economically disadvantaged and received free or reduced lunch services.

# Table 1

Total Students	Count	Percentage				
Gender						
Male	264	52%				
Female	244	48%				
Ethnicity						
African American	474	93%				
Native American	0	0%				
Asian/Pacific Islander/Filipino	3	0.6%				
Hispanic	6	1.2%				
White	25	5%				
Other	0	0%				
Economic Status						
Free/Reduced Lunch	455	90%				
Grade						
9th grade (Freshman)	109	21%				
10th grade (Sophomore)	126	126 25%				
11th grade (Junior)	158	31%				
12th grade (Senior)	115	23%				

# Dollarway High School Student Characteristics

#### **Sample and Sampling Procedures**

The sample population was represented through a convenience sample of students enrolled at Dollarway High School during the Spring 2012 semester. The sample consisted of Sophomores (10th graders), Juniors (11th graders), and Seniors (12th graders), ranging in age from 16 to 19 years old. After receiving permission to conduct research at Dollarway High School, the researcher sought teachers who were willing to volunteer their class time for the study. Two teachers volunteered their class time for the study. Students enrolled in these two teachers' courses were invited to participate in the study. A total of 244 students were invited to participate in the study. A total of 72 students participated in the study.

#### Instrumentation

Two survey instruments were used in this study: Facebook Intensity Scale (FBI) (see Table 2), and ENGAGE<sup>TM</sup> for grades 10-12 (formerly the Student Readiness Inventory). The FBI was developed by researchers at Michigan State University in 2007. The FBI was created to gain a measure of Facebook that extended beyond frequency and duration (Ellison et al., 2007). It includes two self-reported assessments of behavior on Facebook. The FBI measures the amount of time spent on Facebook during a typical day, the number of Facebook "friends," and the extent of participation on Facebook. The FBI includes six items scored using a 5-point Likert-scale and two open-ended questions to determine participant's attitude towards Facebook, including to what extent the participant feels an emotional connection to Facebook and the participant's integration of Facebook into his or her daily life. Studies of the FBI have demonstrated moderate to high internal consistency reliabilities (Cronbach's alpha = .83). The Facebook Intensity

score is computed by calculating the mean of all of the items in the scale. The version of the Facebook Intensity Scale formatted for this study is included in Appendix A.

Table 2

Facebook Intensity Scale

#### Scale Items

- 1. Facebook is a part of my every day activity.
- 2. I am proud to tell people I'm on Facebook.
- 3. Facebook has become part of my daily routine.
- 4. I feel out of touch when I haven't logged onto Facebook for awhile.
- 5. I feel I am part of the Facebook community.
- 6. I would be sorry if Facebook shut down.
- 7. Approximately how many total Facebook friends do you have?
- 8. In the past week, on average, approximately how much time PER DAY have you

spent actively using Facebook?

Response categories ranged from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree

(Ellison, 2007)

ENGAGE<sup>™</sup> is a self-report inventory that measures 10 psychosocial behaviors of students that serve as key predictors of academic success. It is published by American College Testing (ACT) and used as the academic behavior component of ACT's College and Career Readiness System. There are currently three ENGAGE assessments designed for different stages in a student's academic career: ENGAGE 6-9 for middle school students, ENGAGE 10-12 for high school students, and ENGAGE College for college students. ENGAGE 10-12 will be used in this study. By using ENGAGE in this study,

the researcher gained information about academic success that extended beyond a calculation of GPA. While prior academic achievement and cognitive ability greatly influence the academic success of students, the academic behaviors of motivation, social engagement, and self-regulation are substantially important for student success in middle school, high school, and college (Robbins et al., 2004).

After testing thousands of students using ENGAGE Grades 6-9 and tracking their academic progress through high school, ACT found that ENGAGE Grades 6-9 was a valid predictor of high school grades. The psychosocial behaviors measured by ENGAGE Grades 6-9 help explain academic performance in high school. ACT (2011b) found that the following relative distribution of the predictors of early high school GPA: middle schools grades (31%), academic behaviors (31%), EXPLORE Composite score (26%), student demographics (9%), and school factors (3%).

After testing over 14,000 students at 48 postsecondary institutions using ENGAGE College and tracking their academic and work performance, ACT found that ENGAGE College was a valid predictor of college grades and work performance. The psychosocial behaviors measured by ENGAGE College help explain academic performance in college. ACT (2011b) found the following distribution of psychosocial behaviors to measure academic performance in college: high school grades (34%), ACT Composite score (30%), academic behaviors (17%), student demographics (12%), and institutional factors (7%).

The same psychosocial behaviors that are important for academic success are also important for students when they enter the workforce. Thus, it is important that students

develop the necessary psychosocial behaviors in middle school and high school in order to be prepared for college and career (ACT, 2007).

The important academic behaviors of motivation, social engagement, and selfregulation develop in stages as students progress from middle school to the workforce. For instance, motivation during middle school involves completing homework or organizing desk and school supplies. In high school and college motivation becomes recording due dates and assignments and studying hard. As an adult it becomes working productively and being able to multitask. Social engagement skills move from being able to cooperating with others, perhaps on group projects, to socializing and engaging with peers and taking part in school events. An adult is then able to collaborate with coworkers and be a good citizen. Self-regulation proceeds from learning to control one's temper to coping with busy situations to managing stress. Self-regulation is also the process of learning to obey rules, from classroom ones to academic honor codes to company policies.

ENGAGE 10-12 features 108 items scored using a 6-point Likert scale that ranges from strongly disagree to strongly agree. ENGAGE 10-12 measures 10 variables (or scales) that each represent a psychosocial or academic behavior that is predictive of academic success: academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills. These 10 scales are divided into the three domains of motivation and skills, social engagement, and self-regulation. Studies of ENGAGE 10-12 have demonstrated moderate to high internal consistency reliabilities (alpha range = .81 to .87; median = .84), as well as incremental validity over

demographic, institutional, and standardized achievement variables (Le et al., 2005; Peterson, Casillas, & Robbins, 2006).

The full ENGAGE assessment and samples of statements for each ENGAGE scale cannot be included because the materials are copyrighted and cannot be reproduced. However, they are available on the internet at www.act.org/engage, along with an abundance of other ENGAGE information and resources.

## **Data Collection Procedures**

The first step in the data collection process was to obtain permission from the Dollarway High School District Superintendant to use Dollarway High School as a research site. After receiving permission from the Superintendant, the researcher sent an e-mail to teachers at Dollarway High School and placed flyers in the teachers' lounge seeking teachers who were willing to volunteer class time for the research project. Two teachers volunteered their class time. Next, the researcher visited each of the two teachers' seven classes to present information about the study and to distribute letters of assent and parental letters of consent. The researcher returned to these classes and collected the signed letters of assent and consent from those students who chose to participate in the study. These students were then given the Facebook Intensity Scale Survey and the ENGAGE 10-12 Survey.

All data was collected in one sitting by the researcher, who visited a total of 14 classes at the school and administered the Facebook Intensity Scale and ENGAGE during the 50-minute class period. These instruments were paper and pencil surveys that the students completed individually and returned to the researcher at the time of completion. Following the survey collection, GPA data was collected from the guidance office for

each participating student. GPA data, FBI data, and ENGAGE resulted in the collection of 12 scores for each student. These included the GPA, Facebook Intensity Scale score, academic discipline score, academic self-confidence score, commitment to college score, communication skills score, general determination score, goal striving score, social activity score, social connection score, steadiness score, and study skills score. These data collection procedures were approved by the Pepperdine Institutional Review Board (IRB) (see Appendix B).

#### **Data Analysis**

Data from ENGAGE 10-12 was scored by American College Testing and returned to the researcher. Data from the Facebook Intensity Scale was scored by the researcher. All data was placed in an Excel spreadsheet. The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) computer software program was used to perform analysis of the survey data. Descriptive statistics was used to determine measures of central tendency including the mean, median, range, and standard deviation of the data. Research questions 1 to 11 were tested using the Pearson correlation coefficient. Variables were statistically tested to determine if a positive or negative correlation exists between the variables.

#### Limitations

The major limitation of the study was the use of a non-probability sampling method. A convenience sample was used. This affects the generalizibility of the study to the population.

# **Summary of Methodology**

This chapter restated the purpose of this research and the research questions. Participants were chosen from a convenience sample of students at Dollarway High School. The two instruments, Facebook Intensity Scale and ENGAGE, were introduced. The reliability and validity of the two instruments were also discussed. Finally, the procedures for collecting and analyzing the data were described. The results of the data analysis are presented in the following chapter.

#### **Chapter 4: Results**

The previous chapter presented the methodology used for the study, rationale, and description of instruments, and information about the population. This chapter presents the results of the study. It is divided into two sections. The first section presents descriptive data of the participants in the study. The second section presents the results of testing for each of the 11 research questions. Two hundred and forty-four students were invited to participate in the study, and 72 students returned student assent (Appendix C) and parental consent (Appendix D) forms granting permission to participate in the study.

#### **Characteristics of the Sample**

Descriptive statistics on the characteristics of the sample are shown in Table 3. Participants had a GPA of approximately C+/B-. Percentile rank scores on the ENGAGE assessment can be interpreted in normative terms: i.e., percentile rank scores above 50 are above the median, and scores below 50 are below the median. In this regard, members of the sample had relatively high percentile rank scores on College Commitment, General Determination, Goal Striving, and Study Skills. Participants also had relatively low scores on the Steadiness and Social Activity scales. Almost half of the sample was in the 12th grade, and only one in five were in the 10th grade. Slightly more than half of the sample was female. With few exceptions, members of the sample were African American.

# Table 3

# Sample Characteristics

Characteristic	Mean	(SD)	Median	Range
Facebook Intensity	2.85	( 0.69)	2.84	0.75-4.31
Grade Point Average (GPA)	2.50	(0.80)	2.45	0.75-4.00
Academic Discipline PR	56.47	(26.04)	59.00	4–99
Academic Self-Confidence PR	52.72	(25.41)	49.00	6–97
College Commitment PR	63.32	(32.20)	75.50	3–99
Communication Skills PR	48.81	(30.07)	48.00	2–99
General Determination PR	63.34	(25.98)	71.00	4–99
Goal Striving PR	70.96	(25.22)	77.00	2–99
Social Activity PR	42.53	(23.43)	37.00	3–97
Social Connection PR	51.18	(26.50)	51.00	1–99
Steadiness PR	40.43	(27.66)	34.50	1–99
Study Skills PR	65.51	(25.98)	72.00	8–99
Gender	Count		Percentage	
Male	31		43.1%	
Female	41		56.9%	
Ethnicity	Count		Percentage	
African American	65		90.3%	
Native American	0		0%	
Asian/Pacific Islander/Filipino	0		0%	
Hispanic	0		0%	
White	4		5.6%	
Two Races	3		4.2%	
Grade	Count		Percentage	
9th grade (Freshman)	0		0%	
10th grade (Sophomore)	14		19.4%	
11th grade (Junior)	24		33.3%	
12th grade (Senior)	34	47.2%		

*Note*: PR = Percentile Rank; n = 72

# **Research Questions**

In order to explore relationships between Facebook Intensity and GPA and relationships between Facebook Intensity and the ENGAGE variables, Pearson's correlation coefficient was employed. Pearson's correlation coefficient is appropriate because all the variables in the study were scale variables, and the relationships between them were thought to be linear. In the following analyses, an alpha level of .05 was employed to reject the Null Hypothesis. In other words, if the probability that the sample came from a population in which the variables were uncorrelated was less than .05, then the Null Hypothesis was rejected in favor of the alternate hypothesis that the variables were related in the population. The results of the correlational analyses are shown in Table 4.

Table 4

	Facebook Intensity
Grade Point Average (GPA)	233*
Academic Discipline PR	197
Academic Self-Confidence PR	179
College Commitment PR	196
Communication Skills PR	086
General Determination PR	165
Goal Striving PR	246*
Social Activity PR	093
Social Connection PR	.071
Steadiness PR	389***
Study Skills PR	171

Correlation of Facebook Intensity with GPA and ENGAGE scales

*Note*: \* p < .05; \*\* p < .01; \*\*\* p < .001; *n* = 72

Statistically significant relationships were found between Facebook Intensity and GPA, between Facebook Intensity and Goal Striving, and between Facebook Intensity and Steadiness. Students with higher scores on the Facebook Intensity scale had significantly lower GPAs, as well as significantly lower percentile rank scores on the ENGAGE Goal Striving and Steadiness measures. Follow-up analyses using ENGAGE raw scale scores instead of percentile rank scores obtained the same results: greater Facebook Intensity was related to significantly lower levels of Goal Striving and Steadiness.

The magnitude of the negative correlations of Facebook Intensity with GPA, Goal Striving, and Steadiness were moderately strong. These correlations are presented in Table 5. The strength of a correlation can be determined by computing the square of the correlation; this squared correlation indicates the proportion of variance that is shared by the variables. Facebook Intensity shared 5% of its variance with GPA, 6% of its variance with Goal Striving, and 15% of its variance with Steadiness.

Table 5

Facebook Intensity R R <sup>2</sup>
233 .05
246 .06
389 .15

Strength of Statistically Significant Correlations

Exploratory analyses examined the correlation of Facebook Intensity and students' ACT scores. Higher levels of Facebook Intensity were correlated with lower ACT scores (r = -.253). However, because ACT scores were available for only a relatively small number of students (n = 25), this correlation did not attain statistical significance.

Cumulatively, the results of the analyses indicated that students who used Facebook more intensely might have lower levels of academic performance. Students who were more engaged with Facebook appeared to be less goal-driven and persistent in their approach to academic tasks. The results of the analyses did not support the view that Facebook activity increases social activities or connections.
#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

As described in Chapter 1, the purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between Facebook usage and the academic achievement of high school students. It also determined whether a relationship existed between Facebook usage and psychosocial behaviors of academic success, including academic discipline, academic self-confidence, commitment to college, communication skills, general determination, goal striving, social activity, social connection, steadiness, and study skills. Specifically, this study addressed the following research questions:

1. Is Facebook usage related to GPA for high school students?

2. Is Facebook usage related to academic discipline for high school students?

3. Is Facebook usage related to academic self-confidence for high school students?

4. Is Facebook usage related to commitment to college for high school students?
5. Is Facebook usage related to communication skills for high school students?
6. Is Facebook usage related to general determination for high school students?
7. Is Facebook usage related to goal striving for high school students?
8. Is Facebook usage related to social activity for high school students?
9. Is Facebook usage related to social connection for high school students?
10. Is Facebook usage related to students for high school students?
11. Is Facebook usage related to study skills for high school students?

surveys: the Facebook Intensity Scale and ENGAGE for grades 10-12. Data analysis

from these surveys indicated moderately strong negative relationships between Facebook Intensity and the three variables of GPA, Goal Striving, and Steadiness.

This final chapter is organized into four sections. The first section is key findings, where I discuss the results from the current study. The next section is limitations of the study, where I discuss issues that potentially affected the outcomes of the study. This is followed by implications for the field, where I discuss where the present study fits into the body of work on the relationship between online social networking and academic achievement. Lastly, the chapter ends with suggestions for future research.

# **Key Findings**

The first key finding of this study was a moderately strong negative relationship between Facebook Intensity and GPA of the students in the sample (r = -.233, p < .05). This is not surprising given that Karpinski and Duberstein (2009) asserted that non-users of Facebook earned higher grades than users of Facebook. The present study did not focus on users versus non-users. Because the number of people engaged in online social networking has increased so dramatically since 2008 (Nielsen Company, 2009), it can now be difficult for researchers to locate non-users within a sample. Moreover, 73% of American teens reported that they are users of social networking sites such as Facebook (Lenhart et al., 2010). There were only two non-users within the sample of the present study. One non-user had a GPA of 4.0, which was the highest in the sample. The other user had a GPA of 2.14, which was below the mean of 2.85. Consequently, there was not enough information to make a determination about users versus non-users. There was, however, enough information to determine that the more intensely a student used Facebook, the less academic success they achieved when measuring academic success by

GPA. There was no causal relationship presented in the study. There is simply evidence that students who used Facebook more intensely experienced lower academic achievement than their counterparts who used Facebook less intensely.

The second key finding of this study was a moderately strong negative relationship between Facebook Intensity and Goal Striving (r = -.246, p < .05). The Goal Striving scale within the ENGAGE assessment "reflects the strength of a student's effort to achieve objectives and end goals" (Robbins et al., 2006, p. 600). Goal Striving is found within the larger construct of motivation, which is defined as "personal characteristics that help students succeed academically by focusing and maintaining energies on goal-directed activities" (ACT, 2011b, p. 1). Goal setting appeared to be a large factor within the lives of the students within the sample. The Goal Striving mean score was 70.96. However, the data supported the statement that students who used Facebook more intensely experienced more difficulty in reaching their goals than their counterparts who used Facebook less intensely. Perhaps intensive Facebook use prevented these students from focusing and maintaining their energies on goal-directed activities such as completing homework assignments or studying for tests. As Rouis, Limayem, and Salehi (2011) explained, using Facebook creates a distraction for many students, thus preventing them from achieving their academic goals:

Immersion and engagement in this social activity increases time spent on the website and that even spending 5 to 10 hours a week on Facebook could decrease students' focus and effort on assignment preparation. This effect can be explained by the split attention effect on two tasks that students try to perform simultaneously. (Rouis et al., 2011, p. 985)

Again, there was no causal relationship presented in the study. There is simply evidence that students who used Facebook more intensely possessed fewer goal striving and motivation characteristics than their counterparts who used Facebook less intensely.

The third key finding was a moderately strong negative relationship between Facebook Intensity and Steadiness of the students in the sample (r = -.389, p < .001). The Steadiness scale within the ENGAGE assessment represents "one's responses to and management of strong feelings" (Robbins et al., 2006, p. 600). Steadiness is found within the larger construct of self-regulation, which is defined as "the thinking process and emotional responses of students that govern how well they monitor, regulate, and control their behavior related to school and learning" (ACT, 2011, p. 1). The Steadiness mean score for the sample population was 40.43, which was the lowest mean score of all of the ENGAGE variables. Clearly, steadiness was an important academic behavior that many students within the sample population lacked. Perhaps these students were unable to balance their use of Facebook with their academic duties because they lacked the selfcontrol needed to guide their Facebook usage habits. This third key finding models Rouis et al.'s (2011) application of flow theory to Facebook use. When participants used Facebook, they become so absorbed that they lacked the ability to return to their schoolwork:

Although users experience delight and enjoyment interacting with others on these networks and appear to be in total command of this activity, they lose control over other tasks that they are expected to perform instead. Time flies while they are absorbed in the effect of joy and curiosity from these websites, and no time or effort is left to carry on with other chief tasks. (Rouis et al., 2011, p. 969)

As with GPA and Goal Striving, there was no causal relationship presented in the study between Intensity of Facebook use and Steadiness. There was simply evidence that students who used Facebook more intensely possessed fewer steadiness and selfregulation characteristics than their counterparts who used Facebook less intensely.

# **Limitations of the Study**

The primary limitations of this study were the convenience sampling method and small sample size (72 students). Another limitation was the context of the study, namely a specific high school in Pine Bluff, Arkansas where the majority of the students possessed a low socioeconomic status and the majority of the students were of one race–African American.

In the present study, there was no account for the previous academic success of students. It was outside the scope of the present study to control for other variables that may have contributed to an increase or decrease of student achievement. Although the results indicate a relationship between Intensity of Facebook use and GPA, Goal Striving, and Steadiness, these results are merely suggestive of influence; they are not a definitive display of influence. This is due to the lack of controls for other contributing variables. The same is true for the past studies conducted by Karpinski and Duberstein (2009) and Pasek et al. (2009). Thus, future research should focus on controlling for changes in academic success. Researchers should obtain past data about students, such as past standardized test scores and prior GPAs, to determine if students within the study have experienced an increase or decrease in their academic performance due to other circumstances.

It is important to note that Facebook is one of many tools used for online social networking. The website itself is continuously evolving as the online socialization habits of its users continue to evolve. Therefore, the conclusions of this study should be viewed

within the broader context of the online socialization habits of teenagers. The conclusions of this study contribute to the literature detailing the role of social networking in the lives of high school-aged students.

## **Implications for the Field**

The present study showed no support for the theory that increased online social networking related to increased social capital and, in turn, increased academic achievement. This is in great contrast to prior studies (Donath & Boyd, 2004; Ellison et al., 2006, 2007), which showed a positive relationship between Facebook usage and social capital. It is also in great contrast to prior studies that showed no relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement (Kolek & Saunders, 2008; Pasek et al., 2009). Perhaps the difference lies in the age of the participants and the environment. The sample in the present study consisted of teenagers between the ages of 16 to 19 who were all enrolled in high school. The other studies consisted of young adults who were enrolled in colleges or universities. The present study did, however, provide support for previous studies showing a negative relationship between Facebook usage and academic achievement (Karpinski & Duberstein, 2009; Kirschner & Karpinski, 2010). The present study adds to the field of research in three distinctive ways:

- 1. It focuses on high school students as the population.
- 2. It focuses on academic behaviors instead of GPA only.
- 3. It focuses on the intensity of Facebook users instead of users versus non-users.

#### **Suggestions for Future Research**

It would be appropriate to conduct this study at other high schools within Pine Bluff, within Arkansas, and within the U.S., using a larger sample size in order to observe whether students at other high schools experienced the same negative relationship between Intensity of Facebook Usage and GPA, Goal Striving, and Steadiness. Furthermore, it would be of interest to explore the relationship between Intensity of Facebook Usage and all of the ENGAGE variables at high schools with a different cultural context than that of Dollarway High School. This type of study would enable researchers to observe whether high school students experienced dissimilar effects with Facebook usage due to cultural or environmental differences. Lastly, it would be beneficial to conduct a study using quantitative and qualitative measures in order to gain a better understanding of the relationship between Intensity of Facebook Usage and academic achievement among high school students. This could be accomplished by randomly selecting students from the sample and interviewing them about their attitudes and behaviors concerning their use of Facebook, their current GPA, and their scores on the ENGAGE assessment.

#### REFERENCES

- American College Testing (ACT). (2007). *Impact of cognitive, psychosocial, and career factors on educational and workplace success*. Iowa City, IA: Author. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/research/policymakers/pdf/CognitiveNoncognitive.pdf
- American College Testing (ACT). (2008). *The forgotten middle: Ensuring that all students are on target for college and career readiness before high school.* Iowa City, IA: Author. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/research/policymakers/pdf/ForgottenMiddle.pdf
- American College Testing (ACT). (2011a). *ENGAGE: ENGAGE User's Guide*. Iowa City, IA: Author. Retrieved from http://media.act.org/documents/engage1012\_users\_guide.pdf
- American College Testing (ACT). (2011b). ENGAGE: ENGAGE Issue Brief. Iowa City, IA: Author. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/engage/pdf/ENGAGE\_Issue\_Brief.pdf
- Allen, J., Robbins, S., & Sawyer, R. (2010). Can measuring psychosocial factors promote college success? *Applied Measurement in Education*, 23, 1-22. doi:10.1080/ 08957340903423503
- Baker, W. E. (1990). Market networks and corporate behavior. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 96, 589-625. doi:10.1086/229573
- Barrick, M. R., & Mount, M. K. (1991). The Big Five personality dimensions and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 44, 1-25. doi:10.1111/ j.1744-6570.1991.tb00688.x
- Baym, N. K. (1997). Interpreting soap operas and creating community: Inside an electronic fan culture. In S. Kiesler (Ed.), *Culture of the Internet* (pp. 103-120). Mahewh, NJ: Lwrence Erlbaum.
- Bean, J. P. (1980). Dropouts and turnover: The synthesis and test of a causal model of student attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, 12, 155-187. doi:10.1007/ BF00976194
- Bean, J. P. (1983). The application of a model of turnover in work organizations to the student attrition process. *Review of Higher Education*, *6*, 129-148. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED205151.pdf
- Bean, J. P. (1985). Interaction effects based on class level in an explantory model of college student dropout syndrome. *American Educational Research Journal*, 22, 35-64. doi:10.2307/1162986

- Beard, K. W., & Wolf, E. M. (2001). Modification in the proposed diagnostic criteria for Internet addiction. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 4, 337-383. doi:10.1089/ 109493101300210286
- Berger, J. B., & Milem, J. F. (1999). The role of student involvement and perceptions of integration in a causal model of student persistence. *Research in Higher Education*, 40, 641-664. Retrieved from http://proquest.umi.com.lib.pepperdine. edu/pqdweb?index=0&did=2189219931&SrchMode=1&sid=1&Fmt=6&VInst=P ROD&VType=PQD&RQT=309&VName=PQD&TS=1344237516&clientId=168 6
- Bower, R. (1985). *The changing television audience in America*. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital. In: Richardson, J. G. (ed.) *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education* (pp. 241-258). New York, NY: Greenwood Press.
- Boyd, D. M. (2006, December). Friends, Friendsters, and MySpace Top 8: Writing community into being on social network sites. *First Monday*, *11*(12). Retrieved from http://www.danah.org/papers/FriendsFriendsterTop8.pdf
- Boyd, D. M. (2009, February 26). Social media is here to stay... now what? Paper presented at the *Microsoft Research Tech Fest*, Redmond, WA. Retrieved from http://www.danah.org/papers/talks/MSRTechFest2009.html
- Boyd, D. M., & Ellison, N. B. (2007, October). Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *13*, 210-230. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x
- Burt, R. S. (1992). *Structural holes: The social structure of competition*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Caligiuri, P. M. (2000). The Big Five personality characteristics as predictors of expatriate's desire to terminate the assignment and supervisor-rated performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 53, 67-88. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2000.tb00194.x
- Carter, D. (2005). Living in virtual communities. *Information, Communication, and Society*, 8, 148-167. doi:10.1080/13691180500146235
- Carter, D. (2009). Jury out on Facebook's impact on grades. *ECampusNews*. Retrieved from http://www.ecampusnews.com/news/top-news/?i=58794;\_hbguid= 29485985-6d85-486d-8c8b-f7b8a2f55236&d=top-news
- Chafkin, M. (2007, June). How to kill a great idea! *Inc. Magazine*. Retrieved from http://www.inc.com/magazine/20070601/features-how-to-kill-a-great-idea.html

- Chen, H. (2006). Flow on the net: Detecting web users' positive affects and their flow states. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 22, 221-233. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2004. 07.001
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 94, S95-S120. doi:10.1086/228943
- Comstock, G. (1989). The evolution of American television. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Comstock, G., Chaffee, S., Katzman, N., McCombs, M., & Roberts, D. (1978) *Television* and human behavior. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Covington, M. V. (1998). *The will to learn: A guide for motivating young people*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Covington, M. V. (2000). Goal theory, motivation, and school achievement: An integrative review. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *51*, 171-200. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.171
- Creswell, J. W. (2008). Educational research: Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Columbus, OH: Pearson Merill Prentice Hall.
- Crosnoe, R. (2001). Parental involvement in education: The influence of school and neighborhood. *Sociological Focus*, *34*, 4117-4434. Retrieved from http://www.ncsanet.org
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2009). *Flow: The psychology of optimal experience*. New York, NY: Harper and Row.
- Digman, J. M. (1990). Personality structure: Emergence of the five-factor model. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *41*, 417-440. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.41.020190.002221
- Dika, S. L., & Singh, K. (2002). Applications of social capital in educational literature: A critical synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, 72(1), 31-60. doi:10.3102/ 00346543072001031
- Donath, J., & Boyd, D. (2004). Public displays of connection. *BT Technology Journal*. 22(4), 71-82. doi:10.1023/B:BTTJ.0000047585.06264.cc
- Doob, A. N., & McDonald, G. F. (1979). Television viewing and fear of victimization: Is the relationship causal? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37, 170-179. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.37.2.170
- Dotterer, A. M., McHale, S. M., & Crouter, A. C., (2007). Implications of out of school activities for school engagement in African American adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescents*, *36*(4), 391-401. doi:10.1007/s10964-006-9161-3

- Dweck, C. S. (1986). Motivational processes affecting learning. *American Psychologist*, 41, 1040-1048. doi:10.1037//0003-066X.41.10.1040
- Dweck, C. S. (1999). Self-theories: Their role in motvation, personality, and development. Philadelphia, PA: Taylor & Francis.
- Eccles, J. S., & Barber, B. L (1999). Student council, volunteering, basketball, or marching band: What kind of extracurricular involvement matters? *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 14(2), 10-43. doi:10.1177/0743558499141003
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfied, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. Annual Review of Psychology, 53, 109-132. Retrieved from http://supadoc.syr.edu/ docushare/dsweb/Get/Rendition-30316/Eccles\_Wigfield.pdf
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2006). Spatially bounded online social networks and social capital: The role of Facebook. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the International Communication Association (ICA), June 19-23, 2006 in Dresden, Germany. Retrieved from http://www.ucalgary.ca/files/stas341/ Facebook\_ICA\_2006.pdf
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2007). The benefits of Facebook "friends:" Social capital and college students' use of online social network sites. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 12*, 1143-1168. doi:10.1111/j.10836101. 2007.00367.x
- Facebook. (2011a). *Facebook factsheet*. Retrieved from http://www.facebook.com/press/ info.php?factsheet
- Facebook. (2011b). *Statistics*. Retrieved from http://www.facebook.com/press/info.php? statistics
- Facebook. (2011c). *Product/Service*. Retrieved from http://www.facebook.com/ facebook?v=info
- Facebook IPO, May 2012. (2012, May 1). *The New York Times*. Retrieved from http://topics.nytimes.com/top/news/business/companies/facebook\_inc/index.html
- Fashola, O. (2003). *Building effective afterschool programs*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Festa, P. (2003, November 11). Investors snub Friendster in patent grab. CNet News. Retrieved from http://news.com/2100-1032\_3-5106136.html
- Feldman, A. F., & Matjasko, J. L. (2005). The role of school-based extracurricular activities in adolescent development: A comprehensive review of future direction. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(2), 159-210. doi:10.3102/003465430750 02159

- Finn, J. D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. *Review of Educational Research*, 59(2), 117-142. doi:10.2307/1170412
- Gerber, S. B. (1996). Extracurricular activities and academic achievement. *Journal of Research & Development in Education*, *30*(1), 42-50. Retrieved from EBSCOhost
- Gerbner, G., Gross, L., Morgan, M., & Signorelli, N. (1980). The mainstreaming of America: Violence profile no. 11. *Journal of Communication*, (30) Summer, 10-29. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.1980.tb01987.x
- Glanville, J., Sikkink, D., & Hernandez, E. (2008). Religious involvement and educational outcomes: The role of social capital and extracurricular participation. *Sociological Quarterly*, *49*(1), 105-137. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.2007.00108.x
- Goldberg, L. R. (1993). The structure of phenotypic personality traits. *American Psychologist*, 48, 26-34. doi:10.1037//0003-066X.48.1.26
- Grade point average. (n.d.). *Dictionary.com Unabridged*. Retrieved from Dictionary.com website: http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/grade point average
- Granovetter, M. S. (1982). The strength of weak ties: A network theory revisited. In P.V. Mardsen & N. Lin (Eds.), *Social structure and network analysis* (pp. 105-130). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Hamilton, A. (2009). What Facebook users share: Lower grades. *Time*. Retrieved from http://www.time.com/time/business/article/0,8599,1891111,00.html
- Hargittai, E., & Hseih, Y. P. (2010). Predictors and conequences of differentiated practices on social network sites. *Information, Communication & Society*, 13(4), 515-536. doi:10.1080/13691181003639866
- Haythornthwaite, C. (2005). Social networks and internet connectivity effects. Information Communication & Society, 8(2), 125-147. doi:10.1080/ 13691180500146185
- Hendrix, V., Sederberg, C., & Miller, V. (1990). Correlates of commitment/alienation among high school seniors. *Journal of Research and Development in Education*, 23(1), 129-135. Retreived from EBSCOhost
- Hoffman, D. L., & Novak, T. P. (1996). Marketing in hypermedia computer-mediated environments: Conceptual foundations. *Journal of Marketing*, 60, 50-68. doi:10.2307/1251841
- Hurtz, G. M., & Donovan, J. J. (2000). Personality and job performance: The Big Five revisted. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85, 869-879. doi:10.1037//0021-9010.85.6.869

- Internet. (n.d.). *Dictionary.com Unabridged*. Retrieved from Dictionary.com website: http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/internet
- Israel, G. D., Beaulie, L. J., & Hartless, G. (2001). The influence of family and community social capital on educational achievement. *Rural Sociology*, 66(1), 43-68. doi:10.1111/j.1549-0831.2001.tb00054.x
- John, O. P. (1990). The "Big Five" factor taxonomy: Dimensions of personality in the natural language and in questionnaires. In L. A. Pervin (Ed), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research* (pp. 66-100). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Jordan, W. J., & Nettles, S. M. (2000). How students invest their time outside of school: Effects on school engagement and achievement. *Journal of Negro Education*, 68(1), 54-71. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com.lib.pepperdine.edu/ content/k7h4503635178462/fulltext.pdf
- Kappler, S. (2010). *The importance of behavioral readiness: ACT's Student Readiness Inventory*. Retrieved from http://www.nacacnet.org/EventsTraining/NC10/ Educational/Documents/G706.pdf
- Karpinski, A. (2009, April 30). A response to reconciling a media sensation with data. *First Monday* [Online], 14(5). Retrieved from http://firstmonday.org/htbin/ cgiwrap/bin/ojs/index.php/fm/article/view/2503/2183
- Karpinski, A. C., & Duberstein, A. (2009, April). A description of Facebook use and academic performance among undergraduates and graduate students. Poster sessions presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Diego, California.
- Kirschner, P. A., & Karpinski, A. C. (2010). Facebook and academic performance. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26, 1237-1245. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2010.03.024
- Kolek, E. A., & Saunders, D. (2008). Online disclosure: an empirical examination of undergraduate Facebook profiles. NASPA Journal, 45(1), 1-25. doi:10.2202/1949-6605.1905
- Kraut, R., Lumdmark, V., Patterson M., Kiesller, S., Mukopadhyay, T. & Scherlis, W. (1998) Internet paradox: A social technology that reduces social involvement and pshychological well-being? *American Psychologist*, 53(9), 1017-1031. doi:10.1037//0003-066X.53.9.1017
- Lamborn, S. D., Brown, B. B., Mouts, N. S., & Steinberg, L. (1992). Putting school in perspective: The influence of family, peers, extracurricular participation, and parttime work on academic achievement. In F.M. Newmann (Ed). *Student engagement and achievement in American secondary schools*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

- Larson, R. W., & Verma, S. (1999). How children and adolescents spend their time across world: Work, play, and developmental opportunities. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125(6), 701-736. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org
- Le, H., Casillas, A., Robbins, S. B., & Langley, R. (2005). Motivational and skills, social, and self-management predictors of college outcomes: Constructing the student readiness inventory. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 65(3), 482-508. doi:10.1177/0013164404272493
- Lenhart, A., Madden, M., Smith, A., & Macgill, A. (2007). *Teens and social media*. Pew Internet and American Life Project. Retrieved from http://www.pewinternet.org/ Reports/2007/Teens-and-Social-Media.aspx
- Lenhart, A., Purcell, K., Smith, A., & Zickuhr, K. (2010). Social media and mobile Internet use among teens and young adults. Pew Internet and American Life Project. Retrieved from http://www.pewinternet.org/Reports/2010/Social-Mediaand-Young-Adults.aspx
- Lin, N. (2001). Social capital: A theory of social structure and action. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Mahoney, J. L., Harris, A. L., & Eccles, J. S. (2006). Organized activity participation, positive youth development, and the over-scheduling hypothesis. Social Policy Report. Society for Research in Child Development, 20(4), 3-31. Retrieved from http://www.srcd.org/press/mahoney.pdf
- Mahoney, J. L., Larson, R.W., & Eccles, J.S. (2005). Organized activities as contexts of development: Extracurricular activities, after school, and community programs. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Mahoney, J. L., & Stattin, H. (2000). Leisure activities and adolescence anti-social behavior: The role of social structure and social context. *Journal of Adolescence*, 23(2), 113-127. doi:10.1006/jado.2000.0302
- Marsh, H. W., & Kleitman, S. (2002). Extracurricular school activities: The good, the bad, and the nonlinear. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72(4), 464-514. Retrieved from http://ejscontent.ebsco.com/ContentServer.aspx?target=http%3A%2F%2 Fhepg.metapress.com%2Findex%2F051388703V7V7736.pdf
- McAdam, D. (1982). Political process and the development of Black insurgency 1930-1970. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- McNeal, R. (1999). Parental involvement in social capital: Differential effectiveness on science achievement, truancy, and dropping out. *Social Forces*, 78(1), 117-144. doi:10.1093/sf/78.1.117

- Muller, C. (1999, July). Networks of 'personal communities' and 'group communities' in different online communication services [paper presentation]. In *Proceedings of* the Exploring Cyber Society: Social, Political, Economic and Cultural Issues July 5-7 (pp. 1-14). University of Northumbria at Newcastle, UK.
- National Public Radio, Kaiser Family Foundation and Kennedy School of Government. (2000). Survey shows widespread enthusiasm for high technology. *NPR Online Report*, 3. Retrieved from http://www.npr.org/programs/specials/poll/technology/
- Neilsen Company. (2009, September 24). Nielsen report 17 percent of time spent on the internet in August devoted to social networking and blog sites, up from 6 percent a year ago [Press release]. New York: The Neilsen Company. Retrieved from http://enus.nielsen.com/main/news/news\_releases/2009/september/nielsen\_reports\_17
- Nie, N. H. (2001). Sociability, interpersonal relationships, and the Internet: Reconciling conflicting findings. *American Behaviorial Scientist*, 45(3), 420-435. doi: 10.1177/00027640121957277
- Nie, N. H., & Erbring, L. (2000) Internet and society: A preliminary report. Stanford, CA: Stanford Institute for the Quantitative Study of Society. Retrieved from http://www.bsos.umd.edu/socy/alan/webuse/handouts/Nie%20and%20Erbring-Internet%20and%20Society%20a%20Preliminary%20Report.pdf
- Pasek, J., More, E., & Hargittai, E. (2009, April 23). Facebook and academic performance: Reconciling a media sensation with data. *First Monday*, 14(5). Retrieved from http://firstmonday.org/htbin/cgiwrap/bin/ojs/index.php/fm/ article/view/2498/2181
- Portes, A. (1998). Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 24, 1-24. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.24.1.1
- Peterson, C. H., Casillas, A., & Robbins, S. B. (2006). The Student Readiness Inventory and the Big Five: Examining social desirability and college academic performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 41(4), 663-673. doi:10.10 16/j.paid.2006.03.006
- Putnam, R. (1993). The prosperous community: Social capital and public life. American Prospect, 13, 35-42. Retrieved from http://www.philia.ca/files/pdf/Prosperous Community.pdf
- Putnam, R. (1995). Tuning in, tuning out: The strange disappearance of social capital in America. *Political Science and Politics*, 28(4), 664-683. doi:10.2307/420517
- Putnam, R. (2000). *Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community*. New York, NY: Simon & Schuster.

- Resnick, P. (2001). Beyond bowling together: Sociotechnical capital. In J. Carroll (Ed.), *HCI in the new millennium* (pp. 121-135). Boston, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Rheingold, H. (2000). The virtual community: Homesteading on the electronic frontier (Rev. ed.). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Robbins, S., Allen, J., Casillas, A., Peterson, C., & Le, H. (2006). Unraveling the differential effects of motivational and skills, social, and self-management measures from traditional predictors of college outcomes. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98, 598-616. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.98.3.598
- Robbins, S., Lauver, K., Le, H., Davis, D., Langley, R., & Carlstrom, A. (2004). Do psychosocial and study skill factors predict college outcomes? A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130, 261-288. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.130.2.261
- Robinson, J. (1990, September). I love my TV. American Demographics, 24-27.
- Robinson, J., & Godbey, G. (1995) *Time for life*. College Park, MD: University of Maryland. Unpublished manuscript.
- Rosenfeld, L. B., & Richman, J. M. (1999). Supportive communication and school outcomes part II: Academically "at-risk" low income high school students. *Communication Education*, 48(4), 294-307. doi:10.1080/03634529909379180
- Rouis, S., Limayem, M., Salehi, E. (2011). Impact of Facebook usage on students' academic achievement: Role of self-regulation and trust. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, 9(3), 961-994. Retrieved from http://www.investigacion-psicopedagogica.org/revista/articulos/25/english/ Art\_25\_620.pdf
- Saldago, J. (1997). The five factor model of personality and job performance in the European Community. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 30-43. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.82.1.30
- Saldago, J. (2002). The Big Five personality dimensions and counterproductive behaviors. *International Journal of Selection & Assessment*, 10, 117-125. doi: 10.1111/1468-2389.00198
- Schiff, M. (1992). Social capital, labor mobility, and welfare. *Rationality and Society*, *4*, 157-175. doi:10.1177/1043463192004002003
- Schunk, D. H., & Zimmerman, B. J. (2003). Self-regulation and learning. In W. M. Reynolds & G. E. Miller (Eds.), *Handbook of Psychology, Vol. 7: Educational psychology* (pp. 59-78). New York, NY: John Wiley.
- Smith, M. A., Drucker, S. M., Wellman, B., & Kraut, R. (1999, May). Counting on community in cyberspace. Paper presented at the CHI '99, Pittsburgh, PA. doi:10.1145/632765.632770

- Smith, M. L., & Glass, G. V. (1987). Research and evaluation in education and the social sciences. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Sproull, L. S., & Kiesler, S. B. (1991). Connections: New ways of working in the networked organization. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Stanton-Salazar, R., & Dornbusch, S. (1995). Social capital and the reproduction of inequality: Information networks among Mexican-origin high school students. *Sociology of Education*, 68, 116-135. doi:10.2307/2112778
- Tett, R. P., Jackson, D. N., & Rothstein, M. (1991). Personality measures as predictors of job performance: A meta-analytic review. *Personnel Psychology*, 44, 703-742. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.1991.tb00696.x
- Thatcher, A., Wretscheko, G., & Fridjhon, P. (2008). Online flow experiences, problematic Internet use and Internet procrastination. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(5), 2236-2254. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2007.10.008
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research. *Review of Educational Research*, 45, 89-125. doi:10.2307/1170024
- Tinto, V. (1993). *Leaving college: Rethinking the cause and cures of student attrition* (2nd ed). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago.
- Valentine, J. C., Cooper, H., Bettencourt, B. A., & Dubois, D. L.(2002). Out-of-school activities and academic achievement: The mediating role of self-beliefs. *Educational Psychologist*, 37(4), 245-256. doi:10.1207/S15326985EP3704\_4
- Waldinger, R. (1995). The "Other Side" of embeddedness: A case study of the interplay between economy and ethnicity. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *18*, 555-80. Retrieved from http://www.sscnet.ucla.edu/soc/faculty/waldinger/pdf/The\_A8.pdf
- Wellman, B. (1999). The network community: An introduction. In B. Wellman (Ed.), *Networks in the global village* (pp. 1-48). Boulder, CO: Westview.
- Wellman, B. (2001). Physical place and cyber space: The rise of personalized networking. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 25, 227-252.
- Wellman, B., & Frank, K. (2001). Network capital in a multi-level world: Getting support from personal communities. In N. Lin, K. Cook, & R. Burt (Eds.), *Social capital: Theory and research* (pp. 233-273). Hawthorne, NY: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Wellman, B., Haase, A. Q., Witte, J., & Hampton, K. (2001). Does the Internet increase, decrease, or supplement social capital ? Social networks, participation, and community commitment. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 45(3), 456-475. doi:10.1177/00027640121957286

- White, A. M. & Gager, C. T. (2007). Idle hands and empty pockets? Youth involvement in extracurricular activities, social capital, and economic status. *Youth and Society*, *39*(1), 75-111. doi:10.1177/0044118X06296906
- Young, J. (2009). Facebook, grades, and media hype. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 55(33), A13. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/article/Facebook-GradesMedia/11910/
- Zimmerman, B. J. (1986). Becoming a self-regulated learning: Which are the key subprocesses? *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 16, 307-313. doi:10.1016/0361-476X(86)90027-5
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Martinez-Pons, M. (1986). Development of structured interview for assessing student use of self-regulated learning strategies. *American Educational Research Journal*, 23, 614-628. doi:10.2307/1163093

# APPENDIX A

# Facebook Intensity Scale

**Directions**: Listed below are statements about Facebook. Read each statement and indicate how well it describes you by filling in the circle.

1. Facebook is a pa	rt of my ever	yday activity.		
Strongly Disagree	Disagree ②	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree ④	Strongly Agree
2. I am proud to tell people I'm on Facebook.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree 2	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree ④	Strongly Agree
3. Facebook has become part of my daily routine.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree 2	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree ④	Strongly Agree
4. I feel out of touch when I haven't logged onto Facebook in awhile.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree 2	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
5. I feel I am a part of the Facebook community.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree ②	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
6. I would be sorry if Facebook shut down.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree ②	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
7. Approximately how many TOTAL Facebook friends do you have?				
8. In the past week, on average, approximately how much time PER DAY have you spent actively using Facebook?				

Name\_\_\_\_\_

#### APPENDIX B

#### Pepperdine University Institutional Review Board Approval

# PEPPERDINE UNIVERSITY

Graduate & Professional Schools Institutional Review Board

February 21, 2012

Celeste Marie Alexander

#### Protocol #: E1111D12 Project Title: Facebook Usage and Academic Achievement of High School Students: A Quantitative Analysis

Dear Ms. Alexander:

Thank you for submitting your revised IRB application, *Facebook Usage and Academic Achievement of High School Students: A Quantitative Analysis*, to Pepperdine's Graduate and Professional Schools Institutional Review Board (GPS IRB). The IRB has reviewed your revised submitted IRB application and all ancillary materials. As the nature of the research met the requirements for expedited review under provision Title 45 CFR 46.110 (research category 7) of the federal Protection of Human Subjects Act, the IRB conducted a formal, but expedited, review of your application materials.

I am pleased to inform you that your application for your study was granted **Full Approval**. The IRB approval begins today, **February 21, 2012**, and terminates on **February 20, 2013**.

Your final consent and assent form have been stamped by the IRB to indicate the expiration date of study approval. One copy of the forms is enclosed and one copy will be retained for our records. You can only use copies of the consent and assent forms that have been stamped with the GPS IRB expiration date to obtain consent from your participants.

Please note that your research must be conducted according to the proposal that was submitted to the GPS IRB. If changes to the approved protocol occur, a revised protocol must be reviewed and approved by the IRB before implementation. For *any* proposed changes in your research protocol, please submit a **Request for Modification Form** to the GPS IRB. Please be aware that changes to your protocol may prevent the research from qualifying for expedited review and require submission of a new IRB application or other materials to the GPS IRB. If contact with subjects will extend beyond **February 20**, **2013**, a **Continuation or Completion of Review Form** must be submitted at least **one month prior** to the expiration date of study approval to avoid a lapse in approval. These forms can be found on the IRB website at <a href="http://services.pepperdine.edu/irb/irbforms/#Apps">http://services.pepperdine.edu/irb/irbforms/#Apps</a>.

A goal of the IRB is to prevent negative occurrences during any research study. However, despite our best intent, unforeseen circumstances or events may arise during the research. If an unexpected situation or adverse event happens during your investigation, please notify the GPS IRB as soon as possible. We will ask for a complete explanation of the event and your response. Other actions also may be required depending on the nature of the event. Details regarding the timeframe in which adverse events must be reported to the GPS IRB and the appropriate form to be used to report this information can be found in the *Pepperdine University Protection of Human Participants in Research: Policies and Procedures Manual* (see link to "policy material" at <a href="http://www.pepperdine.edu/irb/graduate/">http://www.pepperdine.edu/irb/graduate/</a>).

Please refer to the protocol number denoted above in all further communication or correspondence related to this approval. Should you have additional questions, please contact me. On behalf of the GPS IRB, I wish you success in this scholarly pursuit.

6100 Center Drive, Los Angeles, California 90045 = 310-568-5600

Sincerely,

Jean Kang, CIP Manager, GPS IRB & Dissertation Support Pepperdine University Graduate School of Education & Psychology 6100 Center Dr. 5th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90045 jean.kang@pepperdine.edu W: 310-568-5753 F: 310-568-5755

cc: Dr. Lee Kats, Associate Provost for Research & Assistant Dean of Research, Seaver College Ms. Alexandra Roosa, Director Research and Sponsored Programs Dr. Yuying Tsong, Interim Chair, Graduate and Professional Schools IRB Ms. Jean Kang, Manager, Graduate and Professional Schools IRB Dr. Eric Hamilton Ms. Christie Dailo

Encl: Consent, Assent, Confidentiality Notice v. February 21, 2012/expires February 20, 2013

# APPENDIX C

# Student Assent Form

#### Facebook Usage and Academic Achievement Students at Dollarway High School: A Quantitative Analysis.

My name is Celeste Alexander. I grew up in Pine Bluff, Arkansas, and I am a doctoral student at Pepperdine University. I am currently working on research for my dissertation under the supervision of Dr. Eric Hamilton. I have asked your principal and teacher for permission to speak with you about a study I am conducting on how teenagers use Facebook and how they feel about school. I would like to invite you to participate in this study if you are interested. Before I explain more about the study, I want you to know that the choice to participate is completely up to you. No one is going to force you to do something you are not interested in doing. Even if you start the study and decide that you are no longer interested in continuing, just let me know and we will discontinue your participation in the study. Your grade in class will not be affected if you choose not to participate in the study. Your teacher will not be present during study.

Let me tell you about what you will be asked to do if you decide to participate in this study. During one of your class periods, you will complete 2 surveys. One survey takes about 5 minutes to finish. It asks questions about Facebook. The other survey takes about 30 minutes to finish. It asks questions about school. I have asked for a total of 40 minutes for you to complete both surveys.

If you get bored or tired during the survey, just let me know, and we can take a break. It is not a test, so you don't have to worry about getting answers right or wrong. The survey just asks questions about how you feel. I will also talk to your counselor and/or registrar to get information about your current GPA if you agree to participate in the study.

When the results of this study are published or presented to professional audiences, the names of the people who participated in the study will not be revealed. If you have any questions, you may call me at xxx or e-mail me at xxx. You may also contact my dissertation chair, Dr. Eric Hamilton at xxx or send an e-mail to xxx. If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you can contact Jean Kang, IRB manager at Pepperdine University at xxx or at xxx.

You may keep a copy of this form if you wish.

Youth's signature

Date

Researcher's signature

Date assent obtained

# APPENDIX D

# Parental Consent Form

### PARENT INFORMED CONSENT FOR PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH ACTIVITIES

- High School: A Quantitative Analysis
- 1. I, the parent of \_\_\_\_\_\_, agree to allow my child to participate in the research study being conducted by Ms. Celeste Marie Alexander under the direction of Dr. Eric Hamilton for the purpose of the completion of a dissertation by Ms. Celeste Marie Alexander.
- 2. The overall purpose of this research is to determine if a relationship exists between Facebook usage and academic achievement of high school students.
  - 3. My child's participation will require him/her to complete 2 surveys during one of his/her regularly scheduled classes at Dollarway High School. The first survey is called the Facebook Intensity Scale. The second survey is called ENGAGE. These surveys will ask questions about how my child feels about Facebook and how my child feels about school. The researcher will also meet with my child's counselor and/or registrar to gain information about my grades.
  - 4. My child's participation in the study will take approximately 40 minutes to complete. The study shall be conducted in one of my child's regularly scheduled classes at Dollarway High School.
  - 5. I understand that the possible benefit to society from this research is knowledge about online social networking and how it relates to academic achievement of high school students. I understand that the possible benefit to my child from this research is a better understanding of what my child can do as an individual to improve his/her grades and academic success in school.
  - 6. I understand that there are certain risks and discomforts that might be associated with this research. These risks include the physical risks related to sitting in a classroom environment with others and using pencils or other writing instruments. Emotional or psychological risks are those that might be associated with one feeling judged by responses to the survey questions. There is also a fatigue and boredom factor.
  - 7. I understand that the study will not require recovery time.
  - 8. I understand that my child may choose not to participate in this research.
  - 9. I understand that my child's participation is voluntary and that I may refuse to allow him/her to participate and/or withdraw my consent and discontinue his/her participation in the project or activity at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which my child is otherwise entitled.
  - 10. I understand that the investigator will take all reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality of my child's records and my child's identity will not be revealed in any publication that may result from this project. However, I must provide written permission that my child's data may be identified in order to score the ENGAGE survey. The confidentiality of my child's records will be maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal laws. Under California law, there are

exceptions to confidentiality, including suspicion that a child, elder, or dependent adult is being abused, or if an individual discloses an intent to harm him/herself or others. I understand there is a possibility that my child's medical record, including identifying information, may be inspected and/or photocopied by officials of the Food and Drug Administration or other federal or state government agencies during the ordinary course of carrying out their functions. If my child participates in a sponsored research project, a representative of the sponsor may inspect my child's research records.

- 11. I understand that the investigator is willing to answer any inquiries I may have concerning the research herein described. I understand that I may contact Dr. Eric Hamilton at XXX or XXX. if I have other questions or concerns about this research. If I have questions about my rights as a research participant, I understand that I can contact Jean Kang, IRB manager at Pepperdine University at XXX or at XXX.
- 12. I will be informed of any significant new findings developed during the course of my child's participation in this research which may have a bearing on my child's willingness to continue in the study.
- 13. I understand that in the event of physical injury resulting from the research procedures in which my child is to participate, no form of compensation is available. Medical treatment may be provided at my own expense or at the expense of my health care insurer which may or may not provide coverage. If I have questions, I should contact my insurer.
- 14. I understand to my satisfaction the information regarding my child's participation in the research project. All my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I have received a copy of this informed consent form which I have read and understand. I hereby consent to my child's participation in the research described above.

Student Name (Please print)

Parent or legal guardian's name (Please print)

Parent or legal guardian's signature

Date

I have explained and defined in detail the research procedure in which the subject has consented to participate. Having explained this and answered any questions, I am cosigning this form and accepting this person's consent.

Principal Investigator

Date